University of Malta Faculty of Arts DiploFoundation MA in Contemporary Diplomacy 2007

Less Developed Countries (LDCs) in international system

An essay on Burkina Faso's experience through the diplomacy of development' A dissertation presented to the Faculty of Arts in the University of Malta for the degree of Master of Arts in Contemporary diplomacy, by Sawadogo Poussi, July, 2007

Supervisor: Ambassador Kishan Rana

Declaration

I declare that this work is my own original work.

Poussi Sawadogo

Preface

After an academic year of participation in DiploFoundation Postgraduate programme, I take the commitment to follow the MA in Contemporary Programme. This paper is the result of six months studies. It is a little contribution to the understanding of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development as a means of its actions throughout the world.

Acknowledgements

This paper is the result of many contributors. I address my gratitude to:

- Ambassador Kishan Rana, for his excellent supervision;
- DiploFoundation Team and particularly Hannah Slavik for her availability and advices;
- Professor Mouhoussine Nacro, Director General of the Institute of Diplomacy and International Relations of Burkina Faso, for his endless support;
- The readers: M. Richard Tenkodogo, Issa Sawadogo and El Moutawakilou Ouédraogo, whose efforts have contributed to improve this paper.
- My son: Pengdwendé Abdoul Kader, my daughter: Wendensongdé Aïda Faousiatou and my wife: Roukiatou for heir understanding and help.

Table of contents

Introduction: Elements on Burkina Faso and methodologyp. 01
Part I. The background of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of developmentp.08.
Chapter 1. National and bilateral levelsp. 09.
1.1. Conceptual references
1.1.1. Constitution and bilateral agreements
1.1.2. Political programmesp. 11.
1.2. Institutional initiatives
1.2.1. Primary institutions
1.2.2. Support institutionsp. 26.
Chapter 2. Regional and international levelsp. 31.
2.1. West African and African levelsp. 31
2.1.1. WAEMU and ECOWAS
2.1.2. African Union
2.2. International levelp. 34.
2.2.1. Transnational initiatives
2.2.2. Global initiatives
Part II. Practice of the diplomacy of development by Burkina Faso: Peace and development promotion
Chapter 3. Peace promotionp. 38.
3.1. Peace operationsp. 38.
3.1.1. West African and African experiences
3.1.2. International experiences
3.2. Mediations
3.1.2. Burkina Faso and the Togo's Peace Agreement (August 2006)
3.1.2. Burkina Faso and the Ivory Coast's Peace Agreement (March 2007)p. 47.
Chapter 4. The challenges of development and integrationp. 50.
4.1. Quiet diplomacy and developmentp. 50.
4.1.1. Burkina Faso and Ivory Coast: Strong commonality of values
4.1.2. Burkina Faso and Taiwan: Marriage of interests
4.2. Group diplomacy for global developmentp. 65.
4.2.1. Battle for integration
4.2.1. Cotton Initiative at the WTO
Conclusion: West African LDCs in international system: convergences in principles
divergences in actions
Bibliographic referencesp. 83

Introduction: Elements on Burkina Faso and methodology

To struggle poverty and to build peaceful space in Africa are the main objectives of African countries. In West Africa, Burkina Faso takes the challenge of development and peace promotion through many international actions. Burkina Faso is a landlocked country. It located in the hearth of West Africa which shares a frontier with six countries. In the South are Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Togo and Benin. In the western and northern side is Mali, and Niger in the East. Its population is of 12 million inhabitants of which with 52 % constitute the number of women and 48 % of men (INSD, 2000).

Burkina Faso is classified among the "*Less Developed Countries*" (LDCs). Its primary sector, mainly agriculture, employs more than 90 % of the active population and is the main economic activity. It accounts for 38.1 % of the GNP and more than 50 % of exportation in 1997. The same year, the secondary sector made up 18.3 % of the GNP with only 4 % of the population working in the sector. Finally, the contribution of the tertiary sector was of 43.57 % of GNP and concerned public service, trade, transport, communication and other services.

The major challenge of the country is the fight against poverty given the fact that more than 45 % of its population is below the poverty line with an annual per capita income of just \$250 in 2002.

Because of theses facts and its political history, it is obvious that Burkina Faso needs to promote political stability which could help boost economic performances.

As a matter of fact, the country gained its independence from France as Upper Volta in 1960. But its democratic process experienced many and long interruptions resulting from military coups and, thus, creating political instability and disorganizing its economy. The most significant period was that of the Revolution, from 1983 to 1987 "that was aimed at instilling a greater sense of national identity, increasing country ownership of the development process and emphasizing values of individual integrity. The emphasis on country-led development and the culture of national unity remain hallmarks of the Burkinabè political economy. But the revolution didn't immediately generate an economic resurgence. State control over the main engines of growth as well as key infrastructure discouraged private sector investment. Real per capita income gradually declined throughout the period, leading to public disillusionment", noted the World Bank. What's more the revolutionary regime changed the country's name which has become Burkina Faso since 1984.

Burkinabè designs the inhabitants of Burkina Faso which means in local languages the country of incorruptible persons.

The "Rectification" intervened in 1987 and permitted the re-emergence of a democratic process with the advent of the fourth Republic in 1991. Ever since, the country has experienced political stability with regular elections at different levels: presidential, legislative and municipal.

Moreover, some institutional and political reforms have undertaken. The creation of the "Médiateur du Faso" (the Ombudsman office) in 1994, the "Haute Autorité de Coordination de la Lutte contre la Corruption" (the Coordinating High Authority of the Fight against Corruption) in 2001, the "Commission Nationale contre la Prolifération des Armes Légères" (the National Commission of the Fight against the Proliferation of Light Weapons) in 2001 is a sign of the country's will to improve stability and democracy. These institutions are also some tools to better its image and foster its relations with international community.

Burkina Faso has a budding democracy and heavily depends on international cooperation. 80% of its programme of development is financed by its external partners of development. From 1998 to 2001, the country was pointed out as a bad pupil of good governance because of its support to many rebellions in such countries as Liberia, Sierra Leone and Angola.

To improve its image in the eyes of the international community, Burkina Faso has developed significant diplomatic actions, showing that it is not a bad actor in some conflicts. So, in 2003, it facilitated negotiations between Liberian protagonists. The following year (2004), it contributed to the signature of a peace agreement between the Government of Chad and rebellion leaders. In 2006, Burkina Faso played the key role of mediator between the different actors of Togo's political conflicts and did likewise in February 2007 in the direct dialogue between the protagonists of the political crisis in Côte d'Ivoire.

We can add that regional context and international challenges permit the emergence of Burkina Faso like a peacemaker country. With the recommendation of France to African countries to democratise their regime and the need of peace and security in West Africa at the beginning in 1989 and 1990, Burkina Faso adopts a new behaviour in its international conduct.

With these achievements, Burkina Faso has become a peace actor in West Africa. Many developed countries have confidence in this country which cultivates a new approach of diplomacy called "*Diplomacy of development*". Two key words are at the heart of "*Diplomacy of development*": Development and Peace. With fewer resources, Burkina Faso can not conduct the same diplomacy like USA, France or Nigeria which could be considered as great powers. USA could enterprise a "*transformational diplomacy*". France has conducted "*diplomacy of influence*". Nigeria tries to conduct "*sub regional peacemaker's diplomacy*". These states possess some means to constraint other states to accept their point of view by soft or hard power. Burkina Faso cannot do so.

9

So, its diplomacy is oriented towards improving its relationships with other nations for its development and its security, and for the preservation of its high interests. This type of diplomacy developed by an LDC is worthy of interest the current study aims at highlighting its importance and originality. Before everything, it is interesting to know what the ideological and institutional backgrounds of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development are and how this diplomacy is conducted daily.

Let's say that this diplomacy finds its expression in the Constitution and bilateral agreements, but also in national political programmes, in the primary and support institutions, as well as in the regional and international legal commitments with such organisations as the West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU), the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS), the African Union, the Francophone International Organisation, the African Caribbean Pacific-European Union (ACP-EU), the United Nations Organisation (UNO), the World Trade Organisation (WTO), etc. It could be very important to study the practice of the diplomacy of development by Burkina Faso through development and peace promotion.

The aim of this study is to be helpful for a better understanding of the manner in which an LDC acts in the international system with a specific diplomatic approach. Burkina Faso has an ideological and institutional background in national, regional and international levels. It stands as an important actor for peace and development and the challenge of this paper is to check the nature of Burkina Faso's international influence in international system. But before anything, it is methodologically appropriate to define some key concepts as "Less Developed Country" (LCD), "diplomacy of development", "international system".

An *LDC* may be seen as "*small country*" because, with few resources, it "*it can not protect itself and defend its interests by its own means*" (Henrikson, 2007). and usually is an easy prey to economic giants, mostly in the context of globalisation. To achieve its goals of development it needs allies with which it will aim at union or integration. In comparison to rich nations, it is also right to consider a *LDC* as a small one because of its "*relatively limited influence*" (Assanvo, 2007) on international system.

Now, what is "*diplomacy of development*"? To understand this concept it is necessary to define each concept of the expression. "*Diplomacy*" is considered as:

"a means by which states try to secure their foreign policy goals and objectives in the wider international system in order to advance and fulfil their national developmental agenda, mainly through negotiation" (Cross-Mike, 2007). Diplomacy is so an instrument for all countries, less developed or rich, to express their presence in the international system for their benefits. As for "*Development*" it means as a process whose main goal is to qualitatively and quantitatively satisfy the needs of the populations in political, economic, social, cultural and environmental fields. In LDCs, the development privileges the priorities of the sanitary, educational, agricultural and infrastructural aspects. The development has two sides: material and psychological.

For the understanding of Burkina Faso, "*Diplomacy of development*" is its international action which contributes to achieve economic and social development. It promotes good partnerships and has two main goals. The first one is to ensure an international cooperation by signing agreements with diverse partners, and the second one is to protect and defend the country's interests and to facilitate the actions of external Burkinabè in the country's process of development. "*Diplomacy of development*" is so an instrument for friendship by which Burkina Faso ensures its development and its internal security.

I can analyse the Burkina Faso's "*Diplomacy of development*" by using the same theory of "*Small States Diplomacy*" expounded by the Malta International Conference held in February 2007.

The methodology of this paper is based on qualitative approach proceeding from readings and observations. Books and Internet sources are also widely used. This study aims at being more analytical and critical. Moreover, Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development is considered in comparison to other diplomatic practices throughout the world.

The conclusions of the Malta International Conference make good reference points to help understand small or LDC's actions in international system because the conference dealt with the types of diplomacy conducted by this kind of states. Specific data gathered on Burkina Faso's diplomacy at the conceptual and practical levels constitute other useful sources for this study. National and international legal texts, political programmes, fields of intervention are the tools to follow Burkina Faso's conduct in global system.

The current study could be a handbook for young diplomats of poor countries but also could inspire young researchers to analyse other LDCs' diplomacy and permit to elaborate a theory of these States' diplomatic practices in international system as what is also done on small States. So, this paper has a scientific utility. It could also be an instrument for diplomats who want to have a better understanding of their own daily actions. It could be a handbook for young diplomats in LDCs.

So, this paper has a scientific utility and therefore could also be an instrument for diplomats who want to have a better comprehension of their own daily actions. It is made up of two main parts. The first deals with the background of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development at national, bilateral, regional and international levels. The second one goes through the practice of the diplomacy of development by Burkina Faso through the promotion of peace and development.

Part I

The background of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development

The essence of Burkina Faso's development diplomacy is built on national, regional and international instruments and institutions.

On the national and bilateral scales, Burkina Faso has some conceptual references and many institutional initiatives that are its bible to guide its international actions.

1.1. Conceptual references

The Constitution, the bilateral agreements and the political commitments are the conceptual background for Burkina Faso in the international system.

1.1.1. Constitution and bilateral agreements

The Constitution, the fundamental law of Burkina Faso, voted in June, 1991, contains the major principles of foreign policy of the country. In its preamble, it underlines:

The sovereign people of Burkina Faso (Ministère des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale):

- looks for economic and political integration with the other peoples of Africa to build a federative unity of Africa,
- subscribes to the 1948 Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the international instruments on economic, political, social and cultural issues,
- reaffirms solemnly its commitment to the 1981 African Chart on Human and People's Rights,
- wants to promote peace, international partnerships, peaceful settlement of conflicts between states in the spirit of justice, equality, freedom and people's sovereignty.

The 12th and 13th titles of the Constitution treat the African Unity and the international Treaties and Agreements. The 36th article of the Constitution of Burkina Faso, voted in June, 1991, stipulates that

"The Head of State (President du Faso) determines the main orientations of the State's foreign policy (...) He is the protector of the national independence, of the national integrity, of the permanence and the continuity of the State, of the respect of agreements and treaties". The 148th article notes that the "Head of State negotiates, signs and ratifies international treaties and agreements".

Burkina Faso is a signatory to agreements with other countries to promote peace and development. This study would like to take just the cooperation with Côte d'Ivoire and Taiwan to illustrate this.

Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire were both two colonial territories of France. An artificial frontier created by France separated the two territories. From 1932 to 1947, Upper Volta (Burkina Faso) was divided in three parts. The main part integrated Côte d'Ivoire and became Haute Côte d'Ivoire. This measure led to the use of Burkina Faso's population as free labour to work in the cacao fields in Côte d'Ivoire. In 1947, following a strong claims of Upper Volta, France reinstalled the territory in its prior limits.

But many people stayed behind in Côte d'Ivoire and since then, the relationships between the two countries have been very strong. They have signed many agreements to protect their mutual interests. These agreements stand as a symbol of their neighbour term. To sum up the quality of the relationships between the two countries, the Ambassador of Côte d'Ivoire in Burkina Faso said: "*Between Côte d'Ivoire and Burkina Faso, stands a wedlock never to be broken*". The High Joint Commission is an instrument to regularly assess the relations between the two countries.

More details are done in the point on "Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire: Strong commonality of values", in the second part of this study.

Between Burkina Faso and Taiwan, the Diplomacy of Development achieves its full expression. Since the regularisation of their relations in 1994, Taiwan participated in the fight against poverty undertaken by Burkina Faso, but also supported the "Six Commitments" of the Head of State launched in 1994. To reciprocate the assistance, Burkina Faso raises the Taiwanese issue every year at the General Assembly of the United Nations Organisation, arguing that Taiwan, as an economic power has the right to be a full member of the UNO. This position is amply rewarded by Taiwan which considerably assists Burkina Faso.

The Constitution and the bilateral agreements are the sources of inspiration of the Head of State and the Government's political strategy.

1.1.2. Political programmes

This point is analysed through the Head of State's political programmes and the Strategic Framework for the fight against Poverty.

From 1991 to 2007, Burkina Faso has experienced a real democratic process. Its diplomacy has been an instrument to build its image and to facilitate its relationship with other international actors, subsequent to the allegations to its support to rebel groups. Some opportunities have been offered to the Head of State to express Burkina Faso's points of view about international governance and to indicate its will to play a major role for peace and development.

During the presidential election in 1998, Blaise Compaoré (1998b), who was running for a second term published a book containing his political programmes and which was entitled: *"Programme pour un développement solidaire"* (Programme for a common development). As regards his diplomacy goals in, he gives two elements:

1) Erecting Burkina Faso as a regional centre of development in West Africa. The president argued that many factors permitted the achievement of this goal, the geographical position of the country but also the fact that Burkina Faso hosts the home offices of many regional organisations; the commitment of the political actors and the civil society to achieve integration and the country's foreign policy which is oriented toward political dialogue and peace promotion.

2) Organising an active diplomacy and a real presence of Burkina Faso in the world. This objective requires Burkina Faso to share friendship and cooperation with other people through an active participation in the management of conflicts in Africa and to continue the involvement of country in multilateral actions for peace in the world.

The main tool to achieve these goals is the diplomacy of development which could contribute to accomplish economical, social and cultural development and to promote African integration to overcome the effects of globalization.

About integration and security, it is interesting to note that as a landlocked country, Burkina Faso, since its independence, has the conscience and conviction that its future depends on the cooperation of its neighbours. It must have good neighbourhood policy with coastal countries such as Benin, Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana and Togo.

The President's political programme is a response to international community which accused Burkina Faso from 1999 to 2003 of sponsoring regional rebellions and of participating to illicit trafficking of diamond from Liberia, Sierra Leone and Angola. An internal issue, the assassination of an independent journalist in December, 1999 had a bad impact on Burkina Faso's international image, mainly in the field of human rights. All these questions limit the effect of the diplomacy of development undertaken by the country.

In 2005, Blaise Compaoré (2005), for his third term, presented a new programme: "Le Progrès continu pour une société d'espérance" (The Sustainable Progress for a society of Hope). The general objectives of this programme are:

- 1) the consolidation of democracy and the valorisation of human capital;
- 2) the enlargement of opportunities of the creation of wealth and jobs;
- 3) the visible presence of Burkina Faso in international system.

In the third part of this programme, Blaise Compaoré has shown three goals for Burkina Faso's foreign policy:

- 1) To respect the country's commitments *vis-à-vis* the international law;
- 2) To abide by international recommendations and resolutions from international meetings;
- 3) To obtain a real presence of Burkina Faso in the world.

To reach these goals, the Head of State of Burkina Faso has chosen three missions for his diplomacy:

1) The consolidation of Burkina Faso's status in Africa and in the world arena;

2) The contribution to regional and continental integration through good relationships with the neighbours and the promotion of regional interdependence.

3) The promotion of peace and security in West Africa and in the world. In view of its stability and traditional mechanisms for peace, Burkina Faso is ready to share its experience in management of conflicts and therefore calls for multilateral actions in conflicts management.

This programme is his personal commitment for the future of the country and it aims at transforming Burkina Faso into an emergent country through the involvement of all the people. This is just a will and not an achievement with effective results, noted many internal and external observers.

With the end of the civil war in Liberia and the involvement of President Blaise Compaoré in the crises in Togo and in Côte d'Ivoire as mediator, Burkina Faso has the opportunity to play a major role in regional peace promotion process. Its mediations have given a reality to Burkina Faso's regional programme for peace. Burkina Faso received the recognition and the confidence of international community. Blaise Compaoré's fight, as the leader of "*Cotton Initiative*", for transparent and fair trade, mainly for West African Cotton producers, contributed to improve Burkina Faso's international image. Blaise Compaoré becomes the spokesman of cotton producers like Benin, Chad and Mali through the "*Cotton Initiative*", since his historical speech at WTO in Geneva on April 10, 2003.

All the views of President Blaise Compaoré (1998a) are contained in his book which has the title: *Les voies de l'espérance* (The Ways of Hope). He believes that Africa has the opportunity to

20

achieve the fight for regional integration and solidarity. Thus, it is imperative for Africa to take actions by signing agreements which preserve its dignity and unity. He adds that the consolidation of African policies of integration should offer opportunities for African development. With a comprehensive and audacious common programme for food security, African states will be able to fight against famine. In unifying their schemes for the protection of the environment and natural resources, African countries will be able to give more water to the populations. In developing common infrastructures of transport and communication, African internal trade will be more dynamic. Solidarity and integration are the two tools to achieve these objectives. But above all, the regional market must be adapted to the process and requirements of globalisation.

For many observers, these thoughts are always a theory. No significant realisations are visible and West African region remains one of the poorest in the world. However, WAEMU has started its programme of interstate infrastructures, mainly in roads' fields. But the states' individual selfishness constitutes a major limit for common actions. West African regional community has the best legal framework but practices are under the expectation of the populations. It would be better if West African leaders' ideals permit the regional development. Another bad example is the New Partnership for African Development (NEPAD), African development initiative, which is a failure, as noted Senegalese President, Abdoulaye Wade.

Blaise Compaoré strongly believes that peace constitutes the main condition for a successful integration. That is why Africa must find mechanisms to restore peace through mediation, political instruments of conflict management and make efforts which will contribute to the building a culture of peace.

21

"The obligation to show solidarity in favour of peace and development is so a moral obligation for the developed countries. This solidarity is an imperative response to the misery of the populations, and that because of the nature of the demand addressed by people and not by government" (Compaoré, 1998a).

The president calls for a new kind of diplomacy. He says that the diplomacy of African countries must be adapted to international realities and must, mainly by helping countries, satisfy their needs. The foreign policy must be developed according to the dependence of national development on external financial supports. Foreign policy for States without significant power must be a strategy to be more efficient, to overcome the major challenges of countries on the their way to development. "*Diplomacy must be considered as a technical and practical tool to serve development, national building process and African unity*", states Blaise Compaoré (1998a). This vision of the diplomacy of development is a necessity for Africa. Its mission is to devise the best mechanisms to support trade, economic and financial actions. In Africa, diplomacy must serve economic and social purposes, by considering each sector of development as its field of action.

We can note here that the diplomacy of development of Burkina Faso has no long term issues. It seems more a "*diplomacy of urgency*" than"*diplomacy of anticipation*". This kind of diplomacy is characterised by the manner of diplomatic action. The State has no long foreign policy. The observers have the impression that international actions are achieved without prospect. Then "*diplomacy of urgency*" doesn't explain the objective of international action but just how the State responds to international situations.

The diplomacy of development is also the extending of the traditional sphere of external relations. The state must collaborate with new type of actors such as organisations of the civil society and the economic and financial institutions.

The book of Blaise Compaoré is a reference frame for diplomats of LDCs whose missions differ from those of developed countries. This accounts for the fact that the main partners of Small or LDCs in developed countries are ministries of Cooperation rather than ministries of foreign affairs. Other political declarations define the nature of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development, as speeches delivered by the Head of State. Responding to the diplomatic corps during the New Year 2007's greetings, Blaise Compaoré (2007) noted that Burkina Faso is an architect of peace and development.

It is interesting to note here that this ceremony is an opportunity for the Head of State to develop public relations by promoting the image of his country. It seemed to be a moment of "marketing" of the country to the diplomats and envoys of international organisations. So, it is very important to mention some passages of these statements which are a kind of dialogue between states. During these occasions, the Head of State expressed his gratitude to all the partners of the country.

He indicated that the values of peace, solidarity and hospitality will be improved because they constitute a valuable resource for the unity and the spirit of tolerance of peoples. Burkina Faso is a country which is at the crossroad of hope and has a strong desire to share with other people in the world its goodwill for stable and prosperous environment. This justifies its involvement in the management of crises in West Africa and in the other parts of the world.

Blaise Compaoré denounces the ongoing system of international trade which is dominated by developed countries. He, therefore, calls for a fair international trade, in favour of the producers

23

of cotton of the South. The Doha Round must be negotiated successfully to avoid catastrophes for LDCs.

On January 9, 2004, Blaise Compaoré (2004a), in response to the diplomatic corps, calls each state, each people to be accountable and to owner the obligation of solidarity and of the research of equity among nations. This must be an imperative mission for the new international commitment to democratise and to develop good governance in international system.

The speeches addressed by Blaise Compaoré contained many mentions of international solidarity. This implicitly shows the impression of eternal assistance for Africa through the obligation of international society to support LDCs' development. This appeal for paternalism from developed countries is not appropriate and each state must be the first actor of its own development. Burkina Faso's diplomacy hopes to meet its strong commitments and its major contribution to reach the objectives of African integration, international peace and security. Blaise Compaoré (2007) calls the technical and financial partners of Burkina Faso to continue through their efforts to help the country to carry out its projects of development.

He adds that for a stable and democratic global space, abiding by the fundamental principles of the Chart of the United Nations Organisations ought to be the major preoccupation of diplomatic action for a new and adapted international order in political, social and environmental terms. This speech is typical of LDCs which could not live without the assistance of developed countries. They use moral arguments to call for international aid. This is an idealist conception of international relations. Even if this is also important, it seems very useful for LDCs to have realistic approach which invites each actor to contribute to build the global world. The development of Burkina Faso cannot come true without a strong regional integration. Blaise Compaoré (1996) has the conviction that only the integration could contribute to transform West Africa as an important destination of trade and investment with more chance of sustainable development. So, the selfishness of the states must yield way to the need integration. If in theory, this thought is interesting, the selfishness of each state constitutes an important limit.

The Conference of Burkina Faso's Ambassadors and Consuls-General is another occasion for the Head of State to express the main outlines of his foreign policy. It is an ideal opportunity for Blaise Compaoré to specify his instructions to his plenipotentiaries. On December 18, 2006, he underlines his position about international unfair trade and international solidarity for developing countries. Burkina Faso needs to develop its human resources for its visible presence in the world. That is why he wants to create new institutions to accomplish this mission. He notes that his country has always taken the evolution of the world in account, mainly the constitution of regional blocks. Thus, Burkina Faso takes many actions to accelerate the process of integration in West Africa. He adds: "I am convinced that our future depends necessarily on strong economic and political integration and an active regional solidarity" (Compaoré, 2006b).

Practically, the integration process is experiencing many difficulties. For example, West African populations meet some problems regarding to free movement of persons, goods and services in WAEMU or ECOWAS' space. Fortunately, in WAEMU's zone, there is progressively the end of controls, through the experimentation in Benin and Burkina Faso.

Blaise Compaoré invites his envoys to work hard to mobilise useful resources to achieve the Millennium Development Goals and the objectives contained in the "Strategic Framework of Fight against Poverty" (« Cadre Stratégique de Lutte Contre la Pauvreté »), the referential document for the country's development.

Other political strategies are elaborated in reference to these political programmes. The most important document is the "Strategic Framework of Fight against Poverty". Written through the contribution of the technical and financial partners, this document is the roadmap of Burkina Faso's sustainable development. Its essential aims are:

- 1) Accelerating and sharing growth;
- 2) Better access to social facilities (Education, health, drinking water, etc.) for many people;
- 3) Many opportunities of jobs and incomes;
- 4) Better governance with decentralization.

These goals must contribute to integrate Burkina Faso in the international economy and to strengthen its place in international governance. We can say that the effect of this strategic framework is not very visible. The main reason is that this programme seemed an instrument imposed by international community without a real ownership of local population. The other reason is the fact that the development is a long term process. The role of technical and financial partners, as developed countries, regional organisation and international institutions, is very important. Still national institutional initiatives are compelling.

1.2. Institutional initiatives

Burkina Faso's institutional framework has two scales of intervention (Boukoungou, 2003, p.7). First, there are primary institutions which are the main actors of the country's international presence in the world. Second, there are other institutions which contribute to the improvement of the image of Burkina Faso in international system.

1.2.1. Primary institutions

The office of the Head of State, the Office of the Prime Minister, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation, the Embassies and the Consulates, the National Commission for Integration, the High Council of Burkinabè Living Abroad, the National Commission for French speaking Community and the Institute of Diplomacy and International Relations of Ouagadougou and the National Assembly are the main institutions in Burkina Faso's diplomacy.

The Office of the Head of State has the main mission to initiate Burkina Faso's foreign policy. Its role is both conceptual and practical. The Constitution, as indicated below, gives free hand to the Head of State to take actions on international scale. Here, it is interesting to make clear that only one diplomat assists the Head of State's Office as diplomatic adviser. This is not sufficient to create an important dynamism for the Head of State's international actions. It could be more profitable to create a wide council for foreign affairs in his office to follow the main diplomatic missions with retrospective and prospective dimensions. It is obvious that this approach might create the danger of a rival foreign office. For some observers, having just one diplomatic adviser is not so unusual for a head of state, whether this adviser is formal or informal. We can that each approach is after all a question of level of interdisciplinary knowledge and well human management.

The Office of the Prime Minister plays also a role in Burkina Faso's diplomatic actions. The 63rd article of the Constitution of Burkina Faso indicates that the Prime Minister is the Chief of the Government. He coordinates the governmental action which includes the foreign policy. He takes part in the elaboration of the foreign policy, under the supervision of the Head of State. When he speaks to the National Assembly, he presents the Government's actions in diplomatic field. For example, on April 12, 2001, the Prime Minister declared, that the execution of the foreign policy must contribute to the promotion of a positive image of Burkina Faso. To achieve its objectives, the country's diplomacy must take new initiatives, mainly through the reinforcement of the capabilities of the embassies and the consulates, by opening new embassies and consulates, by maintaining Burkina Faso's operational skills in the field of peacekeeping and security operations in the region of West Africa, and the continent as a whole.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation and its subdivisions play a major role in the execution of the foreign policy. The main mission of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation is to work daily through diplomatic actions and to regularly assess the performance as regards the goals of its foreign policy.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation has also the following assignments:

- The organisation and the management of diplomatic and consular representations of Burkina Faso in the world;
- 2) The coordination, the negotiation, the signature and the evaluation of international cooperation and agreements;

3) The defense of the interests and the protection of Burkina Faso's nationals in other countries;

4) The general information about international issues for the Government;

5) The management of the relations with the diplomatic missions of other countries in Burkina Faso;

6) The management of the relations with the bilateral and multilateral financial organisations and the Non Governmental Organisations in partnership with the other ministries;

7) The deliverance of diplomatic and service passports.

The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation play a coordinating role to harmonize actors to have the same position in international system. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation is also tasked upon the Head of State's instructions, with the conception of the foreign policy.

It is interesting to underline the main structures of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation which contribute to the management of the foreign policy through their specific missions. The main objectives of Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development are to promote development and peace in Africa and in the world.

As the voice of Burkina Faso in the other countries, the Embassies and the Consulates are entitled with important functions those of representation, protection, information and negotiation (Décret no 2002-513/PRES/PM/MAECR du 19 novembre 2002, p. 14). Burkina Faso has 27 embassies and 4 consulates general throughout the world.

Regional integration is the step number one to promoting development. To this ends, the Government has set up the National Commission for Integration. The Commission is seen as driving force to simulate the dynamic of integration (Décret no 2002-513/PRES/PM/MAECR du 19 novembre 2002, p. 17).

I can note that this commission meets some problems because of the existence of two other departments of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation: Africa and Regional Cooperation Department and the Department of the Promotion of Integration with similar missions. Regularly, these departments and the commission meet difficulties to follow regional integration issues because of the lack of the visibility of certain decisions and instructions.

The missions of the High Council of the Burkinabè Living Aboard are ((Décret no 2002-513/PRES/PM/MAECR du 19 novembre 2002, p. 15):

- 1) to protect the Burkinabè who live in other countries;
- 2) to facilitate the harmonious integration of these Burkinabè in Burkina Faso;
- 3) enable them to have a say in their country's development process;
- 4) to take them into account as important partners for the visible presence of BurkinaFaso in the world.

Burkina Faso is an active member of the Francophone International Organisation. To contribute to the achievement of the ideals of the Francophone institution for peace and development, Burkina Faso has created a special commission: the National Commission for Francophone International Organisation which is endowed with the following missions (Décret no 2002-513/PRES/PM/MAECR du 19 novembre 2002, p. 15):

1) to initiate, organise and coordinate the relations between national institutions and the institutions of Francophone International Organisation;

2) to encourage and harmonise the interventions of national institutions associated with the francophony's field.

The results of Burkina Faso's diplomacy depend on the quality of its agents, the diplomats. To improve the skills of its diplomats, Burkina Faso has created in 2001 a of training centre: the Institute of Diplomatic and International Relations. This institute has three main missions:

- 1) to execute basic and ongoing trainings for diplomats and other actors of international relations;
- 2) to conduct researches on diplomatic and international issues;
- 3) to popularise international culture through conferences, colloquiums and other activities.

The institute faces the challenge of improving the diplomats' skills to respond to the objectives of foreign policy. At last, the institute aims at being an instrument for regional integration and development in Africa.

Unfortunately, the Government has decided on April 11, 2007 to close definitively the institute. This decision is very damage for Burkina Faso's diplomacy which loses one of its important instruments.

Another major diplomatic institution of Burkina Faso is the Parliament. Through its legislative role, the National Assembly plays a key role in foreign policy and in diplomacy. The National

Assembly enables the Head of State to ratify international treaties. It also controls the management of public affairs by the Government through information. The Constitution obliges the Government to present and defend its politics before the national Assembly. This defense may also relate to the foreign policy. For example, the Government cannot send a peacekeeping mission without the prior authorisation National Assembly (Sawadogo, 2006). Sometimes, in regard to the urgency of peacekeeping interventions, the Government sends armed forces before regularising with the National Assembly.

It participates in the achievement of certain objectives through parliamentary diplomacy. The National Assembly is part of an international ring of national parliaments. The Government calls on the parliamentarians in certain negotiations. For example, parliamentarians are members of Burkina Faso's delegations to the United Nations' General Assembly in New York. They represent the people and are more credible than governmental representatives. Other institutions support the actions of the main structures of Burkina Faso's diplomacy. These institutions are regarded as support institutions.

1.2.2. Support institutions

The support institutions contribute to promote Burkina Faso's image in international system. They may be considered as tools of public relations for real presence of Burkina Faso in the world.

Burkina Faso is very dependent on international financial contributions. To manage efficiently the fruits of cooperation, it has created the General Direction of Cooperation in the Ministry in charge of finances. Its missions consist in organising negotiations in the field of the economic, technical and financial relations of cooperation at bilateral and multilateral levels in the prospect of contributing to the sustainable development of Burkina Faso. To carry out its missions, the activities of the General Direction of Cooperation are as follow:

- 1) the development of relations with bilateral and multilateral financial sources;
- 2) the technical and administrative preparation of negotiations;
- 3) the assistance to other ministries to elaborate and to execute projects financed by official development assistance.

This direction participates in negotiation with the technical and financial partners, at bilateral and multilateral levels. It has the responsibility to follow the execution of projects. It closely works with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation. Sometimes, the Minister of Finances is the head of delegation for bilateral negotiation with countries like Germany, Belgium, Austria, etc.

The fight against corruption is a new challenge for Burkina Faso. To show its concern in this field, the Government has created the High Authority of Coordination of the Fight against Corruption. This institution is an instrument of public relations which serves to prove to the technical and financial partners that their funds are well used.

To strengthen national and regional security, Burkina Faso, as other countries in West Africa, has created a National Commission for the Fight against the Proliferation of Small Arms in 2001. Its mission is to achieve the objectives of the ECOWAS Moratorium on small arms and light weapons, which has turned into a Convention on June 14, 2006. The objectives of this Convention are:

"1. To prevent and combat the excessive and destabilising accumulation of small arms and light weapons within ECOWAS;

To continue the efforts for the control of small arms and light weapons within ECOWAS;
To consolidate the gains of the Declaration of the Moratorium on the importation, exportation and manufacture of small arms and its Code of Conduct.
To promote trust between the Member States through concerted and transparent action on the control of small arms and light weapons within ECOWAS;
To build institutional and operational capacities of the ECOWAS Executive Secretariat and the Member States in the efforts to curb the proliferation of small arms and light weapons, their ammunitions and other related materials;
To promote the exchange of information and cooperation among the Member States".

Human rights benefit from an important place in Burkina Faso's strategies. Considering Human Rights as a new religion and as a reference point for a democratic country, the Government created Ministry for the Promotion of Human Rights in 2001. Then a National Commission of Human rights was created the same year. Its missions are to protect and to promote human rights in Burkina Faso. It indeed serves as a means of dialogue between the different actors, mainly public institutions and Non Governmental Organisations, concerning this issue. The Ministry for the Promotion of Human Rights has also the mission to promote a culture of tolerance and peace in Burkina Faso.

Burkina Faso is convinced that a strong cultural diplomacy can contribute to promote its image in the international system. The FESPACO (Panafrican Film and Television Festival of Ouagadougou) and the SIAO (Ouagadougou international Arts and crafts fair) are the important opportunities to "*sell*" Burkina Faso's culture and to share its experience in cultural diplomacy.

The FESPACO, created in 1969 in Ouagadougou, was an autonomous institution which acts under the umbrella of the Ministry in charge of Culture in Burkina Faso. Its objectives are:

[&]quot;- to facilitate the screening of all African films,

⁻ to enable contacts and exchanges among film and audiovisual professionals,

- to contribute to the expansion and development of African cinema as a means of expression, education and raising awareness".

It organizes activities like biennial film festivals with a competition of exclusively African films, an African International Film and Television Market (MICA), the promotion of African cinema in other international festivals, etc. FESPACO is an important tool for Burkina Faso's cultural diplomacy.

As for the SIAO, it was created in 1988 and is an institution which promotes African handicraft. Its main aim is to present the African objects with regard to art and handicraft in order to increase the demand thereof. In this regard, SIAO uses all means for African handicraft to be widely known. The themes of the 7th edition in 2000 and the 9th edition in 2004 which were respectively: "*African handicraft and regional integration*" and "*Investing in African handicraft, a promising sector*" show the importance of handicraft in African development. As an indication about the participation, the 9th edition has received representatives of 32 countries represented, 2652 exhibitors, 226 buyers and professional visitors and 352,000 public visitors. This is a wide world market which contributes to the promotion Burkina Faso's image in international system.

In organising these meetings with success, Burkina Faso is seen as a suitable venue for many other meetings, mainly in the domain of sports. Known as "the Country of the Bicycle", Burkina Faso's Cyclist Tour (Tour Cycliste du Faso), initiated in 1987, is another diplomatic instrument. Like the other sport events, this race, with the participation of African and European countries and is thus considered as an instrument for integration and visible presence of Burkina Faso in the world (Traoré, 2006). This tour comes to a great notice in Africa and in the world. It participates in the development of cycling in Burkina Faso and Africa. It contributes to the global economic development. The Burkina Faso's cyclists are the best in Africa. This justifies their participation in the World Championship in Salzburg, from 15 to 18 September, 2006. The Faso's Cyclist Tour has many partners like the International Cyclist Union, the Amaury Sport Organisation and other sponsors, says the Minister of Sports of Burkina Faso, Palm Jean-Pierre (2006). The success of this tour is also due to the legendary hospitality of Burkina Faso's people. Jean-Claude Hérault (2006) said that

> "When people associate their will, their enthusiasm, their intelligence, therefore there is no war and no difference of skin colour, but they look for a common objective, by meeting the challenges to reach the Faso's Cyclist Tour, an actual symbol of shared success. Yes, the Faso's Cyclist Tour is the pride of Burkina, because of its international fame; we must look for recognition of African cyclists and for this aim, we must internationalise and improve the performance that will take part in the next competitions of Faso's Cyclist Tour".

Cultural personalities and those of sport, the stars, are also ambassadors of Burkina Faso.

Burkina Faso takes the importance of multistakeholders diplomacy into account. Traditional entities, organisations of civil society are also the Government's partners in its international action. The theme of the 9th Conference of Burkina Faso's Ambassadors and General Consuls, in 2003, was "*Civil society and international relations*" (Ministère des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale, 2006). This meeting showed that organisations of civil society play a major role in many fields of international relations as human rights, conflict management, fight against diseases, etc.

Finally, we can regret the lack of synergy between the different institutions in the achievement of Burkina Faso's foreign policy. The Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Regional Cooperation is not the instrument of coordination of the international action. A network, as a coordination institution, will be an ideal tool to harmonise, monitor and organise the state's external actions. The former institute appeared as a space for the different institutions and actors to exchange and plan international actions. The conceptual references and the institutional initiatives are one aspect of Burkina Faso's background to act in international system. Regional and international instruments are also other fundamental tools.

Chapter 2. Regional and international levels

Regional integration and multilateralism are a necessity for Burkina Faso, an LDC with little resource for its development and its security. So, it has taken many regional and international commitments to ensure its sustainable development and its peace and security.

2.1. West African and African levels

In West Africa, two major sub regional instruments can illustrate common commitment to overcome poverty and instability through integration.

2.1.1. WAEMU and ECOWAS

The West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU) was founded in 1994 by the seven countries (Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Mali, Niger, Senegal and Togo. In 1997, Bissau-Guinea is accepted as a member) of Franc CFA (Communauté Financière Africaine) zone, a currency tracing back to France's former currency and now Euro. The main objectives of the WAEMU are:

• To strengthen the access of the sub-regional products to an open and competitive market with a harmonised legal environment,

• To institute a multilateral control to ensure the convergence of performances and the economic policies,

• To create a common market based on free movement of people, goods, services, capitals and the right of settlement for people and to create a common external tariff among member states.

• To develop common actions in different fields like human resources, agriculture, energy, transport, etc.

Burkina Faso is deeply involved in WAEMU process of integration. Ouagadougou, the capital city of Burkina Faso, is the headquarters of this institution. The country is currently the president in office of WAEMU and in the same time of ECOWAS.

The Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)¹ was created in 1975

"to promote co-operation and integration, leading to the establishment of an economic union in West Africa in order to raise the living standards of its peoples, and to maintain and enhance economic stability, foster relations among Member States and contribute to the progress and development of the African Continent".

¹ Member States: Benin, Bissau-Guinea, Burkina Faso, Cape Verde, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea (Conakry), Ivory Coast, Liberia, Mali, Niger, Nigeria, Sierra Leone, Senegal and Togo.

Further on, it added peace promotion as its aim and many instruments are available the promotion of peace and development:

- The Protocol of Non-aggression signed in Lagos on 22 April 1978 and the Protocol on Mutual Assistance in Defence Matters signed in Freetown on 29 May 1981,
- Protocol related to the Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution,

Peacekeeping and Security signed in Lomé on 10 December 1999,

• Bamako Declaration of 1 December 2000 on the common African position on the proliferation, circulation and illicit trade in small arms and light weapons.

In this region, it is useful to note the high number of intergovernmental organisations evaluated at more than fifty. This plurality presents the problem of coordination. There are sometimes conflicts of competence or leadership between these organisations which limit the integration process. Between WAEMU and ECOWAS, we can underline their similar objectives (Kam, 2000). In the future, in accordance with United Nations and African Union's expectation, ECOWAS must integrate WAEMU and will become the only sub-regional organisation in West Africa.

ECOWAS has adopted global approach considering West Africa as an entity. It is recognised by the United Nations Economic Commission for Africa like the legitimate sub-regional organisation. WAEMU has chosen common administrative, cultural and linguistic approach in regard to the Francophone identity of its members. This expresses the divergences due to colonial history. ECOWAS is an instrument for peace and development not only in West Africa, but also for other African regions, in support to African Union's efforts.

2.1.2. African Union

From the Organisation of African Unity (1963) to African Union (2000), peace and development had been the main goals for African states. The New Partnership for African Development (NEPAD) is the last major initiative to stimulate African growth. In domain of peace, the "*Peace and Security Council*", created in 2004, must promote peace, security and stability in Africa. International initiatives complete African actions.

2.2. International level

At this point, the Francophone International Organisation, the ACP-EU partnership, the UNO dynamics and WTO perspectives in regard to Burkina Faso's diplomatic actions.

2.2.1. Transnational initiatives

The Francophone International Organisation is both peace and development instrument. The theme of its 10th Conference in Ouagadougou (Burkina Faso) in November 2004 is: "Francophony, shared space for sustainable development". Sustainable development is the major preoccupation of the member states. The objective of the Francophone International Organisation is to mobilise Francophone States for the promotion of sustainable development. This takes into account the promotion of democracy and human rights promotion into account. The Francophone

Organisation is convinced that peace and security are paramount importance to sustainable development.

About ACP-EU partnership, Burkina Faso is an active member and receives many financial supports for its development. In return, the country pledges to respect the principles of democracy and good governance through accountability. Burkina Faso also benefits from the cooperation between WAEMU and EU with regard to ACP-EU cooperation. The significant instrument of this cooperation is "*Cotonou Accord*", signed in June 2000. It calls for the equality of the partners, the participation of both state and non state actors in the development process, the dialogue and the mutual commitments among signatories, the differentiation and the regionalisation which take the level of development into account by paying more much more attention to LDCs.

2.2.2. Global initiatives

Burkina Faso's legal and institutional instruments for peace and development are based on the principles of UNO which are to promote international peace and security and to ensure sustainable development for all peoples.

Burkina Faso became a member of the UNO in 1960 and the agencies of the organisation are its privileged partners in the fight against poverty and for security.

Burkina Faso is a member of the WTO. The country is known nowadays because of the "Cotton initiative" with regard to the issue of cotton at Doha Development Agenda. Burkina Faso is a recipient of trade-related technical assistance (TRTA) from the WTO, which focuses on development of human resources, building of institutional capacity, supporting the implementation of WTO Agreements and for participation in the Doha Development Agenda. Burkina Faso has also received TRTA under the Joint Integrated Technical Assistance Programme. These efforts can help it access the markets at both the regional and multilateral level with a strong economy which responds competitively to external demand. In spite of these efforts, Burkina Faso remains a marginal actor in international trade and meets many difficulties to export its products.

A clear delegation of power exists between sub-regional, continental and global organisations. African Union takes sub-regional efforts for peace and development into account. For example, ECOWAS negotiates peace in Côte d'Ivoire through the mediation of Blaise Compaoré. Then, Ouagadougou's Agreement, signed on March 4, 2007, was first presented to African Union which had introduced it to the United Nations. This process respects the principle that UNO is the main institution for international peace and security in the world.

Finally, it is interesting to notice that Burkina Faso has various legal and institutional instruments which serve as background of its action in international system. These tools contribute to promote its image through its peace and development actions.

42

Part II

Practice of the diplomacy of development by Burkina Faso Promotion of peace and development

Like other LDCs, Burkina Faso pursuits two main objectives: to promote peace and to win development and integration challenges, through its international actions. This part of the dissertation analyses Burkina Faso's diplomatic actions for peace and development.

Chapter 3. Peace promotion

Before analysing Burkina Faso's actions for peace, it is interesting to remember the legal background of this intervention through national references and regional settings. Burkina Faso's Constitution indicates that the people desire to promote peace, international cooperation and peaceful settlement of conflicts between states, in justice, equality, freedom and people sovereignty. The Head of State's political programme calls for active participation in management of conflicts in Africa and in continuing the involvement of Burkina Faso in multilateral actions for peace in the world.

ECOWAS, through many instruments², considers peace promotion as a priority. African Union, with its "*Peace and Security Council*", is ready to promote peace, security and stability in Africa. Other international commitments are also references for Burkina Faso's international actions for peace which take military dimensions and civil aspects into account.

3.1. Peace operations

Burkina Faso intervened in West Africa and other African regions by sending military forces. It has also sent police forces in Haiti.

3.1.1. West African and African experiences

Burkina Faso's Army, created in 1960, has the mission to consolidate peace and security in West Africa, in other regions of Africa and in the world. From 1993 up to now, it has participated in

² The main instruments are: Protocol on Non-aggression signed in Lagos on 22 April 1978 and the Protocol on Mutual Assistance in Defence Matters signed in Freetown on 29 May 1981; Protocol relating to the Conflict Prevention, Management and Resolution, Peace-keeping and Security signed in Lomé on 10 December 1999; Bamako Declaration of 1rst December 2000 on the common African position on the proliferation, circulation and illicit trade in small arms and light weapons.

many peace operations, mainly in Liberia, Burundi, Central African Republic, Democratic republic of Congo (DRC) and Haiti (Sawadogo, ROP).

Liberia experienced civil war from 1989 to 2003 with times of precarious peace. ECOWAS decided to create and to send the ECOWAS Ceasefire Monitoring Group (ECOMOG) considered as ECOWAS peace operations army. The ECOMOG started its intervention on August 7, 1990, with 3,000 soldiers. Burkina Faso came to support the West African Force in 1997. For fourteen months, 504 soldiers of Burkina Faso's army accomplished their mission in Monrovia. Belgium and Denmark gave logistic support to Burkina Faso for this intervention for peace in Liberia. Initially, the presence of Burkina Faso's contingent was not received with enthusiasm by Liberian political leaders in regard to the accusations against Burkina Faso as a sponsor of the rebellion. The good behaviour, the sense of discipline and the professionalism of Burkina Faso's contingent contributed to create more sympathy and more confidence (Traoré, 2004, p. 30). After this intervention, the image of Burkina Faso's army has become more positive in Liberia and in West Africa.

Before its intervention in Liberia, Burkina Faso had already sent contingents to Burundi in 1994 through the Mission of the Organisation of African Unity in Burundi. It contributed to this operation with 47 soldiers. It lost a military officer on June 14, 1995.

At the end of the African mission, the United Nations Organisation's Operation in Burundi integrated African contingents. Burkina Faso continued to build peace in Burundi through the new mission with fifteen people (Bounkoungou, 2003, p. 60). The good example given by Burkina Faso in Burundi explained its presence in the monitoring of the Inter-African Mission on

Bangui Agreements called "Mission interafricaine de surveillance des Accords de Bangui - MISAB). These agreements addressed the political and military conflict in Central African Republic in 1996. They were signed on January 25, 1997 because of the mediation of France-Afrique Summit held in Ouagadougou in Burkina Faso in December 1996. This mediation was conducted by El Hadj Omar Bongo, Head of State of Gabon, Idriss Deby, Head of State of Chad, Alpha Omar Konaré, Head of State of Mali and Blaise Compaoré, Head of State of Burkina Faso.

The MISAB Force, made of 792 soldiers had the mission to restore peace and to secure Bangui. In February 1997, Burkina Faso sent 114 people to promote peace and security in this country. After the MISAB, the United Nations Mission in Central African Republic called MINURCA enabled the organisation of legislative and presidential elections respectively in 1998 and 1999 in good conditions. Burkina Faso obtained a valuable experience in Central African Republic and its further interventions, mainly in Liberia and in Democratic Republic of Congo (Bonkoungou, 2003, p. 59).

From 1996, Zaire, which became Democratic Republic in Congo in 1997, experienced permanent crises called the "First African World War" in regard to its actors by some observers. On November 30, 1999, the Security Council of the United Nations created the Mission of the United Nations in DRC (MONUC). In January 2004, Burkina Faso participated in the MONUC with 35 military observers and 69 police officers. The success of its interventions in Africa convinced Burkina Faso to participate in the mission in the stabilisation in Haiti.

3.1.2. International experiences

After President Jean Bertrand Aristide's withdrawal from power in February 2004, the United Nations created the "United Nations Mission for Stabilisation in Haiti" in June 2004. This mission intervened to restore stability and democracy in Haiti. In July 2004, Burkina Faso sent more than 75 policemen to Haiti to reinforce the International Civil Police (CIVIPOL).

These efforts developed by Burkina Faso are recognised by countries like France and United States of America which significantly supported the country with training programmes. Examples are RECAMP³ and ACOTA⁴.

With regard to its historical relationship with Africa, France has pledged to develop a fair partnership, which will be open to the whole continent with the support of the United Nations and the European Union (RECAMP).

RECAMP is a French security and defence policy, aimed at helping African states under the umbrella of sub-regional organisations to acquire military capabilities that will enable them to conduct peacekeeping operations on the African continent (RECAMP). In the mid-90s, France developed and introduced «RECAMP» programme to meet the legitimate and increasingly acute need expressed by African countries to settle security problems themselves on the continent.

³ Reinforcement of African Peacekeeping Capabilities (Renforcement des capacités africaines de maintien de la paix) initiated by France to contribute to build African operational peace force.

⁴ Africa Contingency Operations Training and Assistance initiated by USA.

RECAMP provides a solution to the peacekeeping needs expressed by organizations and African States, which aims at helping them reinforce their military capabilities as well as stage and conduct peacekeeping operations on the continent when necessary. In compliance with the Charter of the United Nations, it is now evolving toward a twofold partnership with the African Union and the European Union.

The RECAMP training programme includes three main components:

- A major exercise is staged within one of the sub-regional organizations, which focuses on managing a crisis at the sub-regional level according to a realistic scenario.

- Intermediary trainings are ensured in the other sub-regions by pre-positioned armed forces in close cooperation with sub-regional organizations and neighbouring States.

- Off-programme exercises, initiated by African or non-African countries, can also enjoy the support of RECAMP programme provided that they aim at strengthening African peacekeeping capabilities (RECAMP).

Particularly for West Africa, the objective of RECAMP is to permit ECOWAS to have a Rapid Reaction Force for quick deployment into crisis situations. RECAMP intervened in Ivory Coast to support the ECOWAS and UN peacekeeping missions after the failed coup in September 2002 (RECAMP).

It is interesting to underline an example of an exercise done by RECAMP in West Africa. In November 2004, West African soldiers took part in a major military air, sea and land simulation exercise to enhance the peacekeeping capabilities of the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS) in Benin. Burkina Faso was party to these operations with 60 soldiers. In 1997, the United States, Great Britain and France recognised the need to co-ordinate their military cooperation programmes in Africa to optimize their operations (RECAMP). So, RECAMP is not competing with other programmes like ACOTA and is presented as a complementary programme.

The USA organised in Bama, a locality in West Burkina Faso, exercises of the ACOTA Peacekeeping Training. A Burkinabe battalion of 750 men was trained for future peacekeeping operations. "*The battalion was trained in small unit tactics, human rights, interaction with civil society, international law, and leadership during the seven weeks of training*" (US Embassy, Ouagadougou, 2007). At the end of these exercises, the American Ambassador, Jeanine Jackson recognised the high level of competency and professionalism of Burkina Faso's Army in peacekeeping operations. The positive role played by Burkina Faso in peace operation in West Africa and in other African regions was also underlined. In regard to the success of this training, the US Ambassador promised other forms of cooperation:

"ACOTA training is only one part of the growing military cooperation between the United States and Burkina Faso. A few years ago, the International Military Education and Training, also known as the "IMET program", was re-instated. This program provides training opportunities, which include English Language instruction at the U.S.-sponsored English Language Laboratory in Ouagadougou, and participation in various U.S. military training courses at military installations in the United States. Several officers have completed the Basic Officer Course for career fields such as Quartermaster, Ordnance, Engineering and Infantry. We look forward to continuing and expanding the training opportunities under the IMET program and hope to include courses for NCOs, and mid and senior-level officers. And, we anticipate additional forms of military cooperation in the future" (US Embassy, Ouagadougou, 2007).

It seems important to underline here the bad effect of these peace operations on internal stability.

At individual level, the soldiers who participate to peace operations become suddenly rich and

those who have not this opportunity remain poor. This creates two kinds of soldiers in national forces. It constitutes a threat for the army's unity. Peace operations become the new job for LDCs' armies. An open competition exists between soldiers and this complicates the choice of who must participate to these operations.

The other consequence is the fact that the soldiers who have participated in peace operations met difficulties to have their compensation. This provoked violent claim as the example of the contingents sent in Liberia who manifested with arms in 1999. In December 2006, young soldiers organised violent manifestations to claim best conditions of life. Even if this contestation had no link with peace operations, some observers have developed an interesting question: "*Did Burkina Faso create the situation of its own vulnerability by sending the best soldiers for peace operations?*" In conclusion, we can note that peace operations become lucrative trade for LDCs but could have negative impact on internal security and stability. It is important for each sate to find the best tool to manage these operations with efficiency.

These actions for peace operations in Africa and in the world have become a major part of Burkina Faso's foreign policy. To consolidate its philosophy of peace, Burkina Faso's Government completed its peace operations missions with political mediations, such as in Togo and Ivory Coast's political unrest.

3.2. Mediations

Burkina Faso's foreign policy ranks good neighbour policy as a priority. This can contribute to prevent conflicts and to ensure regional security. In this view, Burkina Faso's Head of State, Blaise Compaoré developed many initiatives to promote peace in some neighbouring countries

50

which went through political crises. This point will focus on the mediations of Burkina Faso in Togo and in Ivory Coast.

3.2.1. Burkina Faso and the Togo's Peace Agreement (August 2006)

In 1993, Burkina Faso offered its first mediation in Togo. The Government led by President Eyadéma and the opposition political parties named "Collectif de l'Opposition Démocratique (COD)" called for President Blaise Compaoré's mediation. His intervention helped the two sides to reach a compromise on issues of security and elections issues. The mediation resulted in an agreement designed: "Accord de Ouagadougou sur la crise togolaise" signed on July 11, 1993 (Kafando, 1996, p. 22). This agreement authorised Burkina Faso, with the support of France, to send military observers to control the presidential and legislative elections which were scheduled for July and September 1994. The personal efforts of Blaise Compaoré to help Togo get peace and reconciliation were acknowledged by Togolese political leaders. The Minister of Foreign Affairs, Ouattara Fambaré Natchaba said that: "The Togolese People recognise President Compaoré and his government's commitment for peace in Togo. Ouagadougou has opened the doors of hope" (Kafando, 1996, p. 22). This mediation in Togo contributed to prepare future interventions.

The success of the first mediation became an added value for Burkina Faso. With the recent political conflict subsequent to the death of President Eyadéma on February 5, 2005, the young President Faure, the son of the late, called for Blaise Compaoré's services to restore peace in Togo. On February 14, 2005, Faure Eyadéma sent envoys to Blaise compaoré who agreed to

mediate for reasons of strategy and real politik reasons. First, The Head of State of Burkina Faso undertook this mediation to improve Burkina Faso's image in West Africa. His regime was pointed as a support for rebellions in Liberia and Sierra Leone. The late President Eyadéma of Togo also fingered Burkina Faso as a support for his internal enemies. At the same time, Blaise Compaoré was seen as a support for the rebellion in Ivory Coast. Second, with the conflict in Ivory Coast, Burkina Faso's economy had difficulties because of the problems of import and export from Ivory Coast's ports. Togo could be a new door for Burkina Faso's trade.

"France has no friends, it only has interests", said the late Head of State, Charles de Gaulle. Adjusting national to regional interests are the endless job of diplomats and political leaders. The strategic choice of Burkina Faso in regard to Togo's political crises shows the complexity of LDC's foreign policy. As a landlocked country, integration and good neighbour policies are two main objectives. After his election as Togo's Head of State, Faure Eyadéma showed his gratitude to President Blaise Compaoré for his peace actions in Togo. In August, 2006, Burkina Faso conducted the Inter Togolese dialogue for peace with success. On July 25, 2006, the Togolese protagonists called for President Blaise Compaoré's middlemanship who invited them for negotiations in Ouagadougou.

Through consultations and negotiations with the participation of the European Union and ECOWAS' representatives as observers, the Head of State of Burkina Faso helped the parties to come to an agreement called "*Dialogue Inter-Togolais : Accord Politique Global*" (Inter-Togolese Dialogue: Global Political Agreement) on August 19, 2006 (*Protocole d'accord du dialogue politique : le texte en intégralité*). The main points of the agreement were about electoral process, security and human rights aspects, democracy and good governance promotion

and a new united government with the different political actors. This result was seen as a success of Burkina Faso's diplomatic actions. President Blaise Compaoré has become a mediator of reference in West Africa.

3.2.2. Burkina Faso and Peace Agreement of Côte d'Ivoire (March 2006)

With its strong faith in good neighbouring relations and in regard to its historical solidarity with Côte d'Ivoire.⁵., Burkina Faso condemned the attempt of *Coup d'Etat* on September 19, 2002. It called the protagonists to dialogue and to negotiate for the best resolution of the crises. It supported all the agreements signed in the peace process of Ivory Coast from Linas-Marcoussis to Pretoria via Accra.

Burkina Faso exercised the presidency of ECOWAS on January 2007 and Blaise Compaoré is again called to facilitate for the direct dialogue between Laurent Gbagbo, the Head of State of Côte d'Ivoire and Guillaume Soro, the leader of Ivorian rebellion called "*New Forces*". The consultations started in Ouagadougou in February 2007. They considered the proposals made by the resolution 1721 (2006) of the United Nations Security Council on November 1, 2006. An agreement was signed on March 4, 2007 in Ouagadougou. Regional and international communities expressed their satisfaction. Its main points are the necessity to build peace and stability, to promote security, to fight against unemployment and poverty, to restore the State's authority and to guarantee the free flow of people and goods in Côte d'Ivoire. The parties are convinced that the consolidation of peace and national reconciliation and the political and

institutional normalisation can only be achieved through endless dialogue and mutual confidence (*Dialogue direct inter-ivoiriens*. L'Accord politique de Ouagadougou).

The agreement signed in Ouagadougou predicted two mechanisms to implement the measures. The first tool is the Permanent Framework of Dialogue (Cadre Permanent de Concertation). It is an organ of alarm and permanent dialogue to reinforce the national cohesion. Its members are:

- Laurent Gbagbo, Head of State,
- Guillaume Soro, Leader of the "New Forces"
- Alassane Dramane Ouattara, Opposition political leader,
- Henri Konan Bédié, Opposition political leader,
- Blaise Compaoré, Head of State of Burkina Faso, President of ECOWAS, Facilitator.

The second instrument is the Evaluation and Accompaniment Committee.

Its role is to evaluate and to make suggestions to implement measures contained in the agreement. The Facilitator or his representative is the president of this Committee. The agreement was recognised by the United Nations. A roadmap was established by the parties and the Facilitator. Nowadays, this agreement permits the formation of a government of reconciliation with Guillaume Soro as Prime Minister and many other ministers issued from opposition parties. The demilitarisation process has also started and the United Nations (United Nations Mission in Côte d'Ivoire) and France's Licorne Forces play the role of monitoring the agreement.

⁵ More than 4 millions of Burkinabè live in Ivory Coast for many years due of France's colonial regime which had

To conclude, it is necessary to note the importance of international support for the peace process in Ivory Coast as indicated by Djibrill Y. Bassolé, Minister for National Security of Burkina Faso, when he said on behalf of Blaise Compaoré, the Facilitator of the Ouagadougou Agreement:

"The decision of the two parties to implement their commitments under the Agreement has made a major contribution to relaxing the political environment in Côte d'Ivoire" but the United Nations must "provide its consistent support to the parties and to facilitation – both technically and financially – and do this through the end of the crisis" (United Nations).

Here, I can note that the regional conjuncture has an impact on Burkina Faso's actions for peace. For examples, the end of the civil war in Liberia, the emergence of a new regime in Togo and the new dynamic of American policy toward Burkina Faso influenced positively its actions for peace in Africa and in the world.

The lack of military equipment limits the intervention of Burkina Faso. There is also a competition between sub-regional states to participate in peace operations. This is another limit. It seems necessary to develop more synergy among West African states through common sub-regional instrument of intervention. But this is very difficult to achieve this because of the selfishness of each state which would like to promote its own image by participating in peace operations. It is also useful for developed countries to coordinate their supports to peace operations undertaken by LDCs by creating a common found and common training institutions with the fusion of RECAMP of France, ACOTA of USA and ACRI (African Crises Response Initiative) of Great Britain.

encouraged the implantation of Burkinabè in Ivory Coast to develop this country through coffee and cacao exploitation. This creates special relations between Burkina Faso and Ivory Coast.

Chapter 4. The challenges of development and integration

As a landlocked country, Burkina Faso's concept of "*Diplomacy of development*" considers peace and security as a priority. Development is the other face of this kind of diplomacy which cannot be achieved without a dynamic process of integration.

4.1. Quiet diplomacy and development

Burkina Faso had developed special relations with Ivory Coast for geographical and historical reasons.

4.1.1. Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire: Strong commonality of values

Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire shared the same political and trade space in West Africa before the colonial period. At the end of the nineteenth century, France occupied the territories of Upper Volta (Burkina Faso) and Côte d'Ivoire. It experienced the cultivation of coffee and cocoa in Ivory Coast. The colony of Upper Volta⁶ was created in 1919. In 1932, France divided Upper Volta and incorporated the main part into Côte d'Ivoire. Upper Volta's people were considered as laborious workers and harnessed in the plantations in Ivory Coast. From the end of Upper Volta to its reinstatement in 1947, many people were sent to Côte d'Ivoire by the colonial power for the purpose of forced labour.

After the colonial period, the Governments of Côte d'Ivoire and Upper Volta continued to encourage the migration of Burkina Faso's people to Côte d'Ivoire. In regard to the importance of the relations between Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire, the authorities of the two countries decided to create a High Joint Commission in 1994 and its first session took place in April 1997 in Abidjan (Procès-Verbal, Abidjan, 4 juillet 1994 et Mémorandum de la Commission Mixte Ivoiro-Burkinabè, juillet 1997, p. 1).

To underline the specific relations between Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire, I review the main sectors through their discussions during the second session of the High Joint Commission in Ouagadougou on July 1999, before the civil war broke out in Côte d'Ivoire in 2002 (Procès - Verbal, Ouagadougou, 26 juillet 1999). This meeting was headed by the Prime Ministers of the two countries. These high representations indicated the expressed the brotherliness between two countries.

The main fields of these discussions were:

1) Administration. Under this topic, the following points could be cited: the materialisation of the common frontier, the regular meetings between the frontier

⁶ Before 1984, Burkina Faso name was Upper Volta, given by France in the regard to the Volta Rivers which go

authorities of the two countries, the twinning-cooperation between Burkina be and Ivorian cities, the security aspects, mainly the fight against cross-border criminality, the free movement of people and goods in accordance with ECOWAS's agreements and the question of the permit of residence. About this permit, the Côte d'Ivoire's delegation to the second session of the High Joint Commission justified that it was an instrument to regulate the immigration flow. It added that this immigration had bad impact on security. This reason is comparable to what had led developed countries to take steps to stop African immigration in Europe. West African States denounced this Ivorian policy which was seen as a xenophobic policy. From these measures were born ideas like the concept of "Ivorignity" (Ivoirité). It refers to the fact of distinguishing Ivorians from non Ivorians and to consider the second group as people without rights to profit from Ivory Coast's development products. The war which started in 2002 was due to the consideration of the northern Ivorians as non Ivorians. Actually this was aimed at the opposition leader, former Prime Minister, Alassane Dramane Ouattara, who was accused of being Burkinabè.

Here, I can note that even if the first President of Ivory Coast, Félix Houphouet Boigny, had well managed the diversity of Ivorian people, he had not however a good perception of integration process. About West African integration, he declared that Côte d'Ivoire can not be the "*Cow of milk*" of the other States of the region. Houphouet Boigny refused to use Côte d'Ivoire economic potentialities to support the development of the other countries, mainly landlocked countries as Burkina Faso, Mali and Niger. The Ivorians, with the economic crises in the years 80s and 90s, considered landlocked countries' citizens as invaders. The main sectors of Ivorian economy were

through the country.

occupied by strangers, mainly by the Burkinabè. This is a source of conflicts between Ivorians and Burkinabè. Immigration became a major problem in Côte d'Ivoire. Other West African populations met similar problem as African and Asian migrants in Europe. Nicolas Sarkozy, the new Head of State of France, has invented the concept of "*chosen immigration*". He expresses the right of France to choose its migrants in accordance with their skills to contribute to build the "*House France*".

2) Justice. The two Parties were satisfied with the ratification of the Convention of cooperation and of mutual aid in the field of justice field signed in Yamoussokro on February 20, 1997. The significant act in this domain was the arrest of Sia Popo, a big-time bandit who had stolen much money in the WAEMU's bank in Côte d'Ivoire. He was taken back to Ivorian police in accordance with the Convention between the two countries (BBC).

3) Education and research. The discussions concerned the three levels of the educational system (primary, secondary and university). The main points on the agenda were to share experiences, to provide for pupils and students' accommodation. This was an important point for Burkina Faso because of the great number of its young expatriates attending school and universities in Côte d'Ivoire. For example, in 1994, 140 students of Burkina Faso applied for rooms in the hall of residence of Ivorian universities granted. Only 10 of them had received positive response from the authorities (Procès-Verbal Abidjan, 4 juillet 1994, p. 8). The lack of access for Burkinabè students to Ivorian universities and the recent war obliged many students to come back in Burkina Faso for their studies. This fact caused the inadequacy of infrastructure and the reduction of scholarships offered by the State. Another phenomenon due to this situation is the

emergence of private universities to receive students who cannot be welcomed in public universities.

4) Environment and Forest. The Parties were ready to sign an agreement in this field to preserve biodiversity and the ecosystem in their spaces through exchanges of experience.

5) Women promotion. This point concerned exchanges between women's associations, the sharing of views about Beijing agreements on women promotion, the women's participation in exhibitions and fairs organised in the two countries. About women promotion, Burkina Faso has firmly committed itself in the respect and protection of women rights. It has become the leader in women's issues in Africa and its leadership was very important during the adoption of the agreement on women rights in addition to human rights agreement by the African Union. In this respect, its international centre for girls and women's education, created in 2001, has become an instrument of African Union in 2006.

6) Social promotion and family issues. For Burkina Faso, which has more than three millions of its inhabitants in Côte d'Ivoire, this question is very important. Many families a reboth Ivorian and Burkinabè because of unions in which one of the couple is Ivorian and the other Burkinabè. So, it is very necessary to promote and protect these families.

7) Employment and social security. Many workers in Côte d'Ivoire are Burkinabè. At the end of their services, they join their home country. They meet difficulties to obtain their pensions. Burkina Faso's delegation called for the respect of the agreements signed by the two Parties. This question was very important and Burkina Faso considered it as an obligation to protect its citizens and their moral and material interests in Côte d'Ivoire. Today, more than 4 million Burkinabè live in Côte d'Ivoire. Almost only family in Burkina Faso has a member working in this neighbouring country. In the mind of many Burkinabè, Côte d'Ivoire and Burkina Faso make one country and one people.

8) Culture. The two Parties would like to strengthen their cultural cooperation. This was an instrument of reciprocal discovery of the two people and it encouraged the integration process. In this regard, Burkina Faso organises the "Day of communities" every year. This initiative aims at consolidating the social integration of West African people living in Burkina Faso. This day contributes to the cultural promotion of all the communities and the recognition of their identities. It bears witness to the hospitality offered by Burkina Faso to other communities ((Ministère des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale, 2006, p. 18).

9) Defense. Military cooperation through training was an important point. The two countries invited their respective institutions leaders to adopt a common supervision of their training. This creates cohesion and common spirit between the two armies. It can also contribute to the creation of regional force for peacekeeping or security promotion.

10) Health. The two countries, united by the geographical situation, shared common health problems. They decided together to fight against diseases like polio, meningitis, malaria, etc. Diseases have no regards for frontiers and the combat must be synergic.

11) Transport and infrastructures. The two Parties would like to have an agreement on road transports. They expressed their satisfaction about the annual meeting of Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Mali and Niger. The road network in this region is very important for the integration process and States' development. Difficulties concerning air transport were also discussed.

61

12) Energy. Between the two countries, there is an electrical interconnection. Côte d'Ivoire provides the main part of the electricity used in Burkina Faso. This is very strategic for these countries.

13) Mineral resources and crude oil. This concerns exchanges about the exploitation of mineral resources and the distribution of crude oil. Burkina Faso, a landlocked country, must use the port of Abidjan to import its fuel. This is also very strategic and vital because the main part of its oil imported via Abidjan.

14) Water. The management of common cross-border waters, like rivers, is essential.The Parties decided to discuss this point in regional perspective.

15) Tourism and handicraft. The exchanges in this field concerned the reciprocal invitation and participation in the SIAO (Ouagadougou international Arts and crafts fair) in Burkina Faso and similar fairs in Côte d'Ivoire. This is an opportunity to share the creative opportunities of each country.

16) Posts. Postal services were also financial institutions used by middle educated people. Many Burkinabè farmers living in Côte d'Ivoire sent much money through postal services. So, the two Parties noted the necessity to find solutions which can ease these transfers. Burkina Faso has many strategic and economic interests in Côte d'Ivoire more than another neighbouring country. For example, €68 million was sent in Burkina Faso by the Burkinabè living in Côte d'Ivoire in 2002.

17) Trade. Côte d'Ivoire is the first trade partner of Burkina Faso. An agreement in this field was signed in 1996. The Parties would like to revise it in regard to new evolutions. An agreement will also be signed between the Association for the Promotion of Exportations of Ivory Coast and the National Office of External Trade of Burkina Faso. These initiatives could contribute to intensify their cooperation in matters of investment and between their chambers of trade. About trade issues, Côte d'Ivoire is the most important partner of Burkina Faso in West Africa. Within WAEMU, Côte d'Ivoire remains the main trade partner of Burkina Faso with more than 63 per cent of exchanges in the zone in 2002. "*This country offered to Burkina Faso 60 % of its import. Its agricultural products like cotton were also exported by Abidjan*", said Benoît Ouattara, Burkinabè Minister of trade in 2002. Because of the war in Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana and Togo become visible partners of Burkina Faso (Ministère du Commerce de la promotion de l'entreprise et de l'artisanat, 2006, p. 64 et 2). The trade authorities recognise the difficulties to collect data in times. So, we can not illustrate our analysis with more statistics. But we can add that the full economic potential between Côte d'Ivoire has other landlocked countries which are important partners than Burkina Faso. It has more choices for its exchanges. It is not the case of Burkina Faso.

18) Agriculture and breeding. The first point concerns agricultural products: bean, tomato, bananas, fish, coco nuts, cereals, etc. The two Parties are ready to encourage the reinforcement and the enlargement of exchanges in this field. The second part concerned the rearing products. The Parties called for the reduction of tariffs and other constraints. How to manage the transhumance is another preoccupation for the Parties. They decided to organise consultations. This is also a cross-border issue and the actors don't know frontiers. They would like to move and come through frontiers without administrative difficulties. In their mind, the frontiers are artificial and don't concern their activities. Sometimes, they have many nationalities and when they go into another country, they show their appropriate identity. The authorities know these facts and try to promote integration process.

Other issues were also discussed. With theses many fields of cooperation between Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire, we conclude with the Ivorian Ambassador in Ouagadougou that the relations between the two States could be compared to wedlocks never to be broken. This explains the fact that with the war in Côte d'Ivoire and its difficulties, Burkina Faso continues to entertain good relations with this country in order to preserve their common interests. Burkina Faso can not live without Côte d'Ivoire and *vice versa*.

It is obvious that with the civil war in this country, Burkina Faso can not be indifferent. France has only 8, 000 citizens in this country and has sent its army to protect them. Burkina Faso with more people but with less means has called for peace and offered its mediation. It organised an operation called "*Opération Bayiri*" or "*Coming back to homeland Operation*" which enabled more than 15,000 people to return in Burkina Faso. The Government had mobilised more than $\pm 10,000$ to finance this operation.

During the third session (Troisième session de la Grande Commission Mixte Ivoiro-burkinabè, 16 juillet 2004) of the High Joint Commission in Abidjan on July 16, 2004, the Parties, aware of the necessity to reinforce their relations of good neighbouring and of cooperation and considering the friendship and the brotherhood between the two States, decided to discuss firmly on many issues. At the beginning of their discussions, they recognised the interdependence between the two countries and have reaffirmed their strong will to contribute together to restore a atmosphere of confidence for peaceful cohabitation of their people. In this view, they decided to create secure economic corridors to ease exchanges of goods between the two countries.

The Parties expressed their strong need to activate their cooperation in fields as human rights, education and trainings, scientific search, environment, water and forests, transports and economical infrastructures, health, employment, culture, energy, agriculture...

About the war in Côte d'Ivoire, Burkina Faso's delegation expressed its satisfaction in regard to the deployment of United Nations force which could help to secure Côte d'Ivoire and the region. The two Parties decided to avoid harbouring on their territories of warring factions. They decided also to reinforce and intensify their cooperation in security and defense maters. They committed themselves to collaborate for the success of the disarmament, demobilization and integration process in Ivory Coast. They reiterate they commitment to the respect of ECOWAS' protocols on conflicts management, mutual assistance in defense maters, free flow of persons and goods, rights of residence and settlement. They called for the reinforcement of the security of Burkinabè in Côte d'Ivoire and Ivorians in Burkina Faso. All these facts justify why the agreement signed in Ouagadogou on March 4, 2007, through the mediation of Blaise Compaoré, could have more results than the others.

The authorities of Burkina Faso and of Côte d'Ivoire must promote trust and create a new dynamic in the region. For this, the two countries must become the driving force of West African process of integration as France and Germany in the European Union. If the relations between Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire are existential, we should say that the relations between Burkina Faso and Taiwan are special.

4.1.2. Burkina Faso and Taiwan: Marriage of interests

Between Burkina Faso and Taiwan, the relations are strong and realistic. For some observers, this kind of relations could be called "*diplomacy of convenience*" which helps Burkina Faso to benefit many financial supports from Taiwan for its development. Since 1965, Taiwan has sent agricultural technical missions to Burkina Faso to promote paddy rice cooperation projects (Chen, 2005). Indeed, 1,260 acres of paddy rice in *La Vallée du Kou*, near Bobo-Dioulasso, the second city of Burkina Faso, have been reclaimed. Farmers have grown paddy rice with Taiwan technology for more than 30 years. Today, the income of local farmers is increasing. Their living standards are rising.

Soon after, Taiwan's technical mission started the Bagré.⁷ Reclamation Area Project in 1994. Reclamation and irrigation of 1,000 acres of farmland were completed in five years. An average of five tons of rice is now produced per hectare annually. There are two harvests each year. In addition, the reclaimed area is increasing every year. A desert of scorching sand turned into thriving green lands. Not only has the income of farmers grown, but also businesses in peripheral areas have also expanded, thus creating many job opportunities for local people. At the UN Earth Summit in 2003, the French press reported on the success story of Bagré Reclamation Area, and acclaimed it as an instance of sustainable development. This honour is the result of efforts undertaken together by Taiwan and Burkina Faso.

Besides paddy rice farming, Taiwan's technical missions currently promote various cooperative projects such as the Fish Breeding Project in the Bagré Reclamation Area, with the hope that more tilapias can be bred in a large quantity so as to increase the protein intake of Burkinabè and strengthen them physically.

⁷ Bagré is big dam for agricultural reclaimation. Taiwan experienced the cultivation of rice.

In addition to agricultural cooperation, Taiwan already sent medical missions to Koudougou in 1994. These missions provided medical services with good medical skills, and assisted Burkina Faso to improve the practice of medicine and public health with medical cooperation and transfers of technology.

Transfer of competence is another area of assistance that Taiwan provides. Taiwan regularly holds seminars to the benefit of industry workforce, government officers and academia. The topics discussed range from agriculture and health, to trade and industrial development. In recent years, Taiwan has provided scholarships to its allies students as Burkina Faso to allow them to study at in Taiwan, earning Masters and doctoral degrees. "We hope that through these human-resource development projects, friends from our allies who wish to study in Taiwan will introduce the seeds of new knowledge and technology, and enable the Taiwan experience to flourish in their lands", said Taiwanese Minister.

Many projects are conducted by Taiwanese Cooperation in Burkina Faso. Two categories of interventions can be identified: the projects of the national Commitments at the Head of State's manisfesto in February 1994 and projects initiated by Taiwanese Embassy (Coopération (Ambassade de la République de Chine au Burkina Faso, 2006).

In the first rubric, Taiwan contributed to:

1) The protection of the environment and the fight against deforestation through the "Earth Front", trees plantation project, the "One school, one grove" (every school is called to create a grove in its ground like an artificial forest).

67

 The increase of agro- pastoral production through the "National unit of agricultural modernisation", the "rainfed rice farming", etc.

3) The organisation and the support to informal sector and to handicraft through the "Support Fund for informal sector".

4) The development of the network of small and medium sized companies through the "Support Fund to Job promotion".

5) The support to women's activities through the "Support Fund for women remunerative activities", the "Centre of production and training for young girls", etc.

6) The development of Sports and cultural activities through "Centres for Health and social promotion" and the "One Village, one Team of sport", etc.

About the second category of projects, we can note:

- The projects of agricultural production of Bagré's dam;
- The projects of the computerization of the Health and Foreign Affairs ministries;
- The projects of building many infrastructures.

It is interesting to underline the important intervention of Taiwan in training and educational sector in Burkina Faso. What have been already achieved are:

- The offer of two programmes of studies in Taiwan;

- The Chinese learning courses organised at Institute of Diplomacy and International Relations of Ouagadougou (IDRI) from 2005 for regular students and public auditors.

- The organisation of vocational seminars and workshops in Taiwan with more than 20 Burkinabè per year.

Taiwan has developed a programme to raise vocational skills in Burkina Faso. This programme will contribute to build four vocational high schools and thirteen vocational training centers.

Another specific intervention of Taiwan is the programme of the reduction of the digital gap through the project of achievement of a "Convergent Network of Voice and Data of the public service".

Burkina Faso, in international forums, to express its gratitude calls for Taiwan's integration in the international system as a sovereign State. "In the new United Nations Organisation that we call strongly, the situation of the Republic of China (Taiwan) must find a just and acceptable solution. It is necessary for this country, which cooperates with the most important part of the international community and contributes significantly to build the universal civilisation, to integrate the United Nations Organisation", indicated Blaise Compaoré (2004b), the Head of State of Burkina Faso. The UNO must avoid exclusions like the one concerning the Republic of China (Taiwan), which has lasted for more than 30 years. With its 23 millions inhabitants, this country is an important stakeholder in the world, said President Blaise Compaoré (2003b). With its high technology and its dynamic democracy, Taiwan makes a reference as a developed country, of a reference success story in Asia and in the world.

"During the solemn instant, I restate, on behalf of Burkina Faso's Government and People, our strong support to the hard and legitimate combat that leads your country to show at the international community the needs of peace, equity and justice of the 23 million citizens of Taiwan", added Blaise Compaoré (2006a).

Taiwan contributes significantly to the edification of the world. Burkina Faso will work its efforts to support the just and legitimate will of Taiwan to reintegrate the United Nations Organisation and its specialized agencies.

Burkina Faso shares with Taiwan foundational values like freedom, justice and respect of human dignity.

In his address to the diplomatic corps on the occasion of the New Year Greetings, Blaise Compaoré confirms its friendship with Taiwan:

> "My country, faithful to its vision of an open international community in which all people express and share their talents and their cultures, call for the reintegration of the Republic of China (Taiwan) in the United Nations System. Reason and equity commend that this country, a great economic and financial power, which is already member of the World Trade Organisation, participates fully in the world life" (2003a).

Burkina Faso is a defender of Taiwan's independence in the world. The symbolic political action is rewarded by Taiwan through its support to Burkina Faso's sustainable development with fewer conditions attached.

In its memorandum for the tenth meeting of Burkina Faso's Ambassadors and General Consuls, the only point discussed in the rubric of bilateral cooperation was the specific dimension of the partnership between Burkina Faso and Taiwan. A special mention was done to these relations in regard to the great contribution of Taiwan to the promotion of development and to the fight against poverty undertaken by Burkina Faso. Taiwan is the first partner of the National Commitments of the Head of State of Burkina Faso. In November 2006, Taiwan promised to assist Burkina Faso development process with \$10 million.

Even if the Government of Burkina Faso has chosen to cooperate with Taiwan, some civil society's organisations, mainly traders and businessmen associations, call for the establishment of diplomatic relations with People Republic of China (PRC), a new great trade power. Senegal and Chad have already chosen PRC, a major international actor which could influence the world trade evolution. PRC manifested its need to cooperate with Burkina Faso through trade missions. In October 2006, a trade mission of PRC visited Burkina Faso with the support of AREVA, France's nuclear multinational society. This mission gained an audience with the President of Burkina Faso's National Assembly, the President of Chamber of Trade and the General Secretary of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Even if this stay didn't express the abandonment of Taiwan, it justifies the complexity of Taiwan's statute: a "*sovereign State*" or a "*Province*" of PRC? If Burkina Faso has chosen the first option and benefits the dividends of "*Dollar diplomacy*", many African states cooperate with PRC and endorse its perception of the unity of China.

To complete bilateral efforts, Burkina Faso has undertaken multilateral actions through group diplomacy.

4.2. Group diplomacy for global development

Integration and common initiatives could help LDCs like Burkina Faso to promote its development.

4.2.1. Battle for integration

In face of globalization, the top authorities of Burkina Faso have the conviction that the integration is an important tool. Only regional common actions can help West African States be more present in international system. In this view, Burkina Faso respects regional commitments on free movement of people in the space of ECOWAS, free flow of goods and services, harmonisation of policies on specific sectors, application of common external tariff in West African Economic and Monetary Union (WAEMU), noted Léopold Bonkoungou (2003, p. 67).

In the West African region, the integration process is gaining momentum. For example, WAEMU has created the Aid Fund for Integration in 2002. ECOWAS has also created the Regional Development Fund and the Regional Bank of Investments. Burkina Faso actively took part in these initiatives. Burkina Faso also respects the criteria of convergence of the multilateral monitoring of WAEMU. As well as, it has also integrated ECOWAS's different instruments of governance.

With its ideal geographical position in the middle of West Africa, Burkina Faso is developing many efforts to become a hub for economic services. The World Bank believes in this challenge and supports the country to diversify and increase its exportations, to improve the investment framework, to modernize economic infrastructure. These actions could enable to transform Burkina Faso into a regional venue for trade and services (Banque Mondiale/Burkina Faso, 2007, p.7).

Other organisations offer their support to the West African region. To illustrate this, let's take the example of Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) negotiations between ECOWAS and European Union. The EPAs are considered as the expression of the privileged relations between European and African, Asian and Pacific (ACP) countries. These relations can contribute to achieve a veritable partnership and sustainable development in ACP countries.

"The EPAs are going to provide a new basis for trade and economic relations between ACP countries and the EU. The central common goal of the Economic Partnership Agreements is to fight poverty, promote sustainable development in the ACP partner countries and foster their fair share of the global economy", concluded a joint Press Release of the German EU Presidency and the ACP (EU, 2007).

If West African Governments have agreed to engage their countries in EPAs process, Non Governmental Organizations call for caution and more accountability before taking commitments. It is also interesting to hear the position of the United Nations about EPAs:

> "Poor and small developing countries can only exercise a sufficient collective negotiating power to facilitate reforms in policies that are critical to their development in the multilateral trading system (the WTO). Their first priority should indeed be to ensure the Doha Round deliver the promised benefits for development. Secondly, the priority for Sub-Saharan Africa would be to develop their own markets by regional integration. Given their limited negotiating capacity it is impossible for countries in Sub-Saharan African to play chess on three boards at the same time. Thus, the EU should consider not pushing Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) until the Doha Development Round (DDR) is concluded. Moreover, EPAs must support development concerns and not force liberalization by requiring reciprocity. Poor countries should be allowed to implement trade reform at appropriate pace and

sequencing. Neither should EPAs be used to introduce new disciplines, which were dropped from the Doha Agenda", said Eveline Herfkens, United Nations Executive Coordinator for the Millennium Development Goals Campaign (EPA watch).

In November 2006, the Burkina Faso has participated in the development days organised by European Union in Brussels. Blaise Compaoré, the Head of State, pronounced a speech on the governance in Burkina Faso. The personal commitment of President Blaise Compaoré for free and equitable international trade, with the perspective of protecting African farmers, mainly cotton producers, is quite note worthy.

4.2.2. Cotton Initiative at the WTO

Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad and Mali, LDCs, have undertaken a global initiative to denounce the inequitable trade of northern countries.

Cotton is the first product of export product in Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad and Mali. It yields 40 % of incomes of exportation for Benin and Burkina Faso, 30 % for Chad and Mali. The production amounts to more than 2 million tons. Fifteen million people rely on cotton farming for their livelihood. But with \$5 milliards of subsidies in rich countries, African producers experience a dramatic situation. The following words show the importance of cotton production in West Africa:

"In Burkina, the role of cotton is essential. We call it "white gold" (...). Cotton allows us to send our children to school, care for our health and buy agricultural tools, which allow us to have enough to eat and produce enough cereal stocks", said Francois Traoré, President of the Association of African Cotton Producers (UN media IRIN, 2006).

Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad and Mali are united for the same battle of preserving their interest: better access to international market for their cotton and improvement of their producers' life. Through Cotton Initiative, this product becomes a specific issue in World Trade Organization negotiations. Benin, Burkina Faso, Chad and Mali adopted protest diplomacy to express the dissent as regards to the subsidies gained by developed countries producers of cotton (USA, EU). They call for redress through compensations. WTO was considered by them as the institution which could contribute to find solutions to the issue of cotton (DOHA process).

On June 10, 2003, Blaise Compaoré addressed to the World Trade Organisation's Trade Negotiations Committee as the spokesman of the countries of the "*Cotton Initiative*" and call for equitable and transparent trade for West African Cotton Producers. He denounced strongly the subventions offered by developed countries to their producers.

In October 2006, Blaise Compaoré, the Head of State of Burkina Faso and leader of "*Cotton Initiative*", indicated to American farmers and congressmen in a videoconference organised by the World Bank that cotton was essential to alleviating poverty in Benin, Burkina Faso, Mali and Chad (UN agency IRIN, 2006). He denounced certain countries which have chosen to flout the rules of the international market". To support the "*Cotton Initiative*" process, Boni Yayi, Head of State of Benin, during a meeting in the White House, in December, asked US President George Bush to help West African farmers by stopping subsidies to American farmers (UN agency IRIN, 2006). Malian President Amadou Toumani Touré said in the foreword of a white paper on the subject that was launched last week in the Senegalese capital city Dakar: "*Some years ago, cotton for us was a source of wealth (...). But these days it has become our burden, a cause of poverty*" (UN Media IRIN, 2006).

In regard to the resistance of Western States, West African governments invited them to provide an emergency fund to compensate for depressed cotton prices and technical and financial

75

assistance for Africa's cotton sector. USA may consider increasing aid to boost the productivity of cotton for African farmers and improve their ability to trade. This perspective contributes to change the position of the states of African "*Cotton Initiative*" competitiveness.

These four African producers of cotton demonstrate a great paradox by cooperating with the USA, which are considered as an enemy. They become an ally of these LDCs by using soft diplomacy. They even offered them other advantages as the access to African Growth Opportunity Act (AGOA) and financial support for development through Millennium Challenge Corporation (MCC) with its instrument of funding, the Millennium Challenge Account. To show its gratitude to the American efforts, Burkina Faso's Government agreed biotechnological cotton (US Embassy, Ouagadougou, 2007).

In November 2006, Burkina Faso hosted a workshop on biotechnology and biotechnological cotton. This training, sponsored by the USAID West Africa Mission and INERA, the Institute of Environment and Agricultural Research of Burkina Faso, was meant for farmers, including workers, research staff, policy makers and journalists. Its overall goal was to provide scientific information and promote meaningful discussion over the benefits and risks of transgenic crops - especially biotechnological cotton – to stakeholders from nine countries in the region, including the four major cotton-producing countries. The participants visited two trial sites to convince themselves that this product is safe. The main question is what the farmers could benefit from this new technology imported from America if countries of the European Union are not ready to accept biotechnological products in their market? The public relations touting African cotton as the best one now cast doubt on this product as it relies on biotechnology methods which are controversial to some extent. Many observers find it hard to understand this stance from Burkina.

Why have the countries of the "*Cotton initiative*" chosen to collaborate strongly with the USA? Geopolitical reasons may be the answer:

From 1998 to 2003, Burkina Faso was accused by international community, mainly by the USA of violating human rights and being a support for rebellions in the sub-region and operating the traffic of precious metal (diamond). In 2004, the USA revised its position and Burkina Faso became a "*good pupil*" and benefited of many services from America.

Mali faces a touaregh rebellion in the north of the country. The USA appear to be an ideal ally to win the battle against this rebellion through its "*war against terror*". The USA equipped and trained Malian army to succeed in battle. This is more important than cotton farmers' incomes. Benin could be presented as a success story for democracy. It is trying to convince USA to finance its development program. With the enormous sums proposed by USA, Benin cannot choose an aggressive position at the WTO negotiations.

Chad has also problems of security. An enemy is at its doors: its internal rebels supported by Sudan. Chad has the same enemy as the USA: Sudan. The USA become an ideal partner for Chad in its war against its rebels. The USA consider Sudan as their enemy because of the "*Genocide*" perpetrated in Darfur perpetrate by the Sudanese authorities. This may relegate the needs of farmers to the background.

I think that the best solution to the issue of cotton is to build a dynamic industry in African countries to process raw cotton into final products with added values and also to increase the capacities of internal consumption. These States must encourage these efforts which have cultural

dimensions. The issue of the cotton may find solution in more independence for African productions.

Finally, with little resource, LDCs chose group diplomacy to give more visibility to their actions. They use protest diplomacy to express their needs. But in face of world powers, LDCs adopt quiet diplomacy. After an observation of the evolution of the "Cotton Initiative", I can assert that LDCs don't have a firm position concerning important issues. Before powerful and developed countries, LDCs often abandon their rigidity and adopt compromising positions which give them immediate benefits. They understand that international relations are guided by interests and are no place for moral values.

Conclusion

West African LDCs in international system: convergences in principles,

divergences in actions

After analysing Burkina Faso's diplomacy of development oriented towards peace and development, it seems useful to study West African LDCs' convergences and divergences in their international interaction. The case of Burkina Faso has demonstrated the importance of peace and development for West African countries. Like Burkina Faso, the other countries of the region favour peace and development in their foreign policies.

About peace promotion, nowadays, the West African main contributors of troops for UN peacekeeping operations are Ghana (3406 persons), Senegal (2538 persons), Niger (613 persons), Togo (353 persons), Mali (213 persons) and Burkina Faso (161). They also act through ad hoc initiatives and regional missions by sending soldiers to keep peace. These operations constitute an act of public relations for West African States. But even if their objectives are common, these countries are not ready to coordinate their actions. Each State would like to use its participation in the operations to promote its international image and to preserve its personal interests. Ambassador Amadou Diop said that Senegal has always showed a positive image to the world. (...). This international positive influence has given Senegal the 12th place on the list of the 191 contributors to peacekeeping operations in the world. The Senegalese General Babacar Gaye, replaced his follow countryman General Mountaga Diallo at the command of the UN mission in DRC (Diop, A. 2006, p. 191).

An open leadership conflict exists between the different Heads of State. Each Head of State would like to appear as the major peacemaker. For this perspective, there are conflicts of leadership between West African Heads of State. This fact is visible in conflicts management. Nigeria, with its strong economy and army, intervened in the region to restore peace. It sent its forces to Liberia, Sierra Leone and Côte d'Ivoire to help solve crises in these countries.

Sometimes, on the operation sites, West African States manifested their leadership. Nigeria lets out its superiority in numbers and Senegal, with soft power, demonstrated its best skills in peacekeeping operations because of the high level of its officers. In regard to their performances, these two countries expressed their desire to become a permanent member of the UN Security Council. Burkina Faso, as a pupil in this field, shows its professionalism and its discipline to benefit of the attention of the international community.

Nigeria used its power to play a major role by offering its good offices in Togo, in Côte d'Ivoire and in Sudan, with Darfur's humanitarian crises. Other West African States like Burkina Faso, Senegal and Togo took initiatives in mediation process. We have noted above the actions of Burkina Faso in Togo and Côte d'Ivoire. It is interesting to note here the conflict of leadership between the late Togolese President Eyadéma and the Senegalese one, Abdoulaye Wade at the start of Ivorian crises. Senegalese authorities didn't comprehend the exclusion of Senegal in the ECOWAS' "Contact group" which must undertake mediation in Ivory Coast. This seemed unacceptable given the fact that Senegal was in charge of presiding ECOWAS, noted Senegalese Minister of Foreign Affairs (AFP). Senegal would like the recognition of its diplomatic efforts which enabled the signature of an agreement on cease fire between North rebellion and Ivorian Government. Togo refused this fact and indicated that the agreement was the result the mediation of the contact group.

As regards to mediation, we can also note that there is a convergence in the objectives but the national selfishness of West African States handicap any synergy. In addition, the former colonial power, France, has a significant influence on West African international interaction. About Ivorian peace process, it said that South Africa was not an ideal mediator and a West African francophone country, which has the same culture as Côte d'Ivoire, was called to conduct the mediation. First, the African Union chose Olesegun Obasanjo, the Head of State of Nigeria and second, Denis Sassou Nguesso, the Head of State of Republic of Congo. These two mediators didn't obtain significant results. The hopeful agreement was signed in Ouagadougou with the strong support of France which sent the specialist of African affairs at Elysée, France's Head of State's office, to express its availability to help the agreement concluded in Ouagadougou. This agreement recognised France efforts and gave new life to the Linas-Marcoussis agreement signed in January 2003 in Paris. The agreement of Ouagadougou is then the continuation of Linas-Marcoussis one.

It seems interesting here to show Senegalese experience in peace promotion. Senegal has a long tradition of peace promotion in regard to its commitments for non interference in the internal affairs of other States, the peaceful settlement of conflicts and the peaceful coexistence. It wrote at the "*fronton*" of its diplomacy the following slogan: peace with neighbouring countries, peace for Africa, peace in the world. In 1975 and 1985, Senegal played a major role to end the war between Upper-Volta (Burkina Faso) and Mali. Senegal also contributed to solve Liberian civil war when it was the presidency in charge of ECOWAS. As indicated above, Senegal was also a major actor of peacekeeping operations. It sent its soldiers in Kuwait, Kosovo, Haiti, Bosnia-Herzegovina, Lebanon, Sinai, Liberia, Rwanda, DRC, Côte d'Ivoire, etc (Diop, A. 2006, p.p. 64-67). The reputation gained by Senegal inspired other States as Burkina Faso to undertake peace operations. As indicated above, in comparison to Senegal, Burkina Faso remains a pupil in peacekeeping operations.

To implement his peace policy, President Leopold Senghor used a double postulate: the respect of cardinal principles of international law, as reference, and the practice of dialogue, as instruments of action ((Diop, A. 2006, p. 95).

Good neighbourliness relations are promoted by West African countries. Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger, as landlocked countries, have the conviction that without a true integration they can not live. Their traders strongly depend on the access of the maritime ports of Benin, Togo, Ghana, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea and Senegal. These coastal States are also workplaces for landlocked countries' workers. We have already noted the specific nature of the relations between Burkina Faso and Côte d'Ivoire. Similar relations exist between Mali and Côte d'Ivoire, Mali and Senegal, Niger and Benin, etc. This creates an interdependence and obliges West African countries, landlocked as well as coastal, to cooperate strongly.

Senegal has an original good neighbour policy explained by Ambassador Amadou Diop. Burkina Faso ant the other countries of the sub-region have similar policies. Brotherhood and solidarity are the two values stated in Senegalese Constitution to achieve good neighbourliness. Senegal called for the respect of frontiers inherited from colonial power and the respect of territorial integrity, as written in the Chart of the Organisation of African Unity in 1963 and in the Act of African Union in 2001.

This is the precondition for good neighbourliness. About conflicts of frontiers, Senegal chose legal way and excluded violent solution. It acted so with Guinea, Mali, Mauritania, Bissau Guinea and Gambia. Peaceful settlement of conflicts is the creed of Senegalese diplomacy. It manifested a strong will to preserve its good neighbourliness. Senegal has always expressed

its solidarity to neighbouring countries in difficulties. The tradition of permanent dialogue between neighbours contributes to promote trust and peace. In this view, Senegalese phone diplomacy played an efficient role. Senegalese presidential plane was also used to convey neighbouring delegations as Gambian, Bissau Guinean and Cape Verde to international meetings.

After President Senghor, President Diouf continued the same policy of good neighbourliness. "You know the particular interest that our country has always paid attention to its neighbourliness inspired by this wisdom which recommends each country to have the diplomacy of its geography", said Abdou Diouf during Senegalese Ambassadors and General Consuls' conference in July 1999. Burkina Faso, in accordance with its geographical position, adopts the same policy of good neighbourhood. It paid more attention to its neighbours as Mali, Côte d'Ivoire, Togo, Benin and Ghana. Burkina Faso had known conflicts of frontiers with Mali and Benin. It was also accused by Togo and Côte d'Ivoire to support their respective opposition leaders or rebellions. With prudence, Burkina Faso's authorities managed their relations to change these conflicts. They called regularly for peaceful settlement of conflicts and culture of brotherhood to preserve each State's specific interests.

These policies of good neighbourliness between West African countries are breeding grounds for regional integration. West African integration was built on the respect of identities, cultures and languages (Diop, A. 2006, p. 131). ECOWAS and WAEMU were based on historical and geographical factors. Neighbourhood and interdependence determined the dynamic of West African integration. The conflict of leadership here concerned for the sharing of responsibilities in the management of regional institutions, mainly between Côte d'Ivoire and Senegal which were seen as the drive force of WAEMU.

Through a meeting between these two important states, which should be discrete, President Senghor obtained the headquarters of the West African States' Bank in Dakar and the position of Governor of the bank was given to Côte d'Ivoire. If Senegal and Côte d'Ivoire have many advantages, the other countries host some institutions to express the spirit of commonality of values. WAEMU took the prevalence of equality of its member States in the life of the Union into account. It didn't consider some choices which called for a system of balance according to economical and financial importance of the states.

Presidents like Abdou Diouf of Senegal, Blaise Compaoré of Burkina Faso, Alpha Omar Konaré of Mali and Mahamane Ousmane of Niger defended the equality and the solidarity which federated and guaranteed the success of the integration process in a complementary spirit. This explained the fact that Ouagadougou hosted the head office of WAEMU (Bonkoungou, 2003, p. 33). For President Diouf, WAEMU must constitute the pillar of West African integration, as Benelux played the same role for European construction, in regard to their similar objectives. The WAEMU must also take up the challenge of peace just like the European Union.

About diplomacy of development, Senegal was a pioneer. Its foreign policy has as creed "serenity in proof, solidarity in accordance with the commitment and openness in the dialogue". Diplomacy is a tool for peace, justice and prosperity.

West African States used quiet diplomacy. For example, in regard to the choice between People Republic of China (PRC) and Taiwan, West African countries do not have the same position. Each state, according to its specific interest has chosen one partner or the other. In WAEMU space, Senegal⁸, Burkina Faso, Niger, Gambia and Bissau Guinea were Taiwan's partners in 2000. Mali, Guinea, Benin, Ivory Coast, Mauritania and Cape Verde had diplomatic relations with the PRC.

These two approaches didn't have a bad impact on the integration process. And President Diouf joked with his competers in theses terms:

"Alpha (President of Mali), indeed, Blaise (President of Burkina Faso) and me have achieved great development projects by taking up with Taiwan again, but you also has obtained important projects with the People Republic of China which has done the maximum to demonstrate the interest to cooperate with it, then we have all won for the great profit of our space" (Diop, A. 2006, p. 174).

The name of this consensual approach is "Development diplomacy" which is built on "State's interest", an ambiguous and concept of foreign policy.

Finally, to reach a compromise through group diplomacy in West Africa, it seems necessary to reform the national and regional organisational system and reinforce synergic coordination. To be more effective and more efficient, national and regional diplomatic actions must be opened to other holders. If the main national organisational system remain the office of the Head of State, the office of the Prime Minister and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, it is necessary to pay much more attention to parliamentary diplomacy, to non States' international actions and to private initiatives. Public diplomacy and multistakeholders diplomacy with a major role for information and communication technologies like cyber diplomacy must become the framework of national and regional management of international affairs. Then, synergic coordination of different actors could have a good impact for peace and development in the region and in the world. For example, to invite non state actors to participate to negotiations could provide more information. With this option, the different aspects of national needs could be taken account. This ease the implementation of agreements issued from these negotiations because of the comprehension and the commitments of all stakeholders.

This synergy implies common regional delegations for some international meetings. Common joint embassies could contribute to a rational management of resources with better results. Joint embassies could help LDCs to be more present in the world by sharing its responsibilities. This facilitates the emergence of common interests following by a representative mission of the region. To be defended by a member of the region seems more useful than by France's embassies, with colonial weight as it is always the case in many African countries. For main international issues, it is necessary to go beyond national and special interests and promote regional position. The authorities must entertain positive leadership to permit a tangible development of West Africa as a whole. The European Union could inspire West African States in their international actions.

The last but one main element for an effective and efficient regional diplomacy is the reinforcement of the capabilities of human resources. Diplomacy is a specific job. Both theory and practice are useful. To improve regional skills in diplomatic field, it is necessary to create regional diplomatic training centre and to prepare young diplomats graduating from

87

⁸ In 2004, Senegal decided to leave Taiwan for the PRC because of its ambitions to become a permanent member of

this centre by taking them on the regional institutions. The programme of the centre must take the regional specificities and the world evolution into account. Economy, society, culture, political and strategic affairs taught in this centre. After that, the WAEMU must open its doors to these young diplomats graduating from the centre to practice under the control of elder diplomats.

It is very important for diplomats to comprehend the missions, the objectives, the procedures and the daily life of their regional institutions. Burkina Faso's diplomatic institute had these missions. It was an ambitious centre for diplomatic training.

Each State must continue to reinforce the capabilities of its diplomats through trainings and practical accompaniment. Senegal has set an example as a success story ((Diop, A. 2006, p. p. 57, 58, 70, 71, 73, 74, 75, 184 and 191). Built on doctrine, the "*diplomatic machine of Senegal*", through its fine presence, its influence and its efficiency, is the faithful reflection of a school which produced great diplomats. This school considers theory and practice as inseparable things. After classical training, young diplomat are called to follow practical lessons with elders. Senegalese diplomacy takes other field of knowledge like economy and trade in regard to the complementarity of action and to the world constant evolution into account.

This dynamism of Senegal's diplomacy permitted the integration of Senegalese in many regional and international organisations. For example, Abdou Diouf at the International Francophone Organisation, Jacques Diouf at FAO, Ibrahima Fall at the United Nations, etc.

the UN Security Council in regard to the reform undertaken.

This contributes to improve Senegal's international image. Senegal is considered as a diplomatic power in Africa. It has expressed its need to participate in the management of international affairs through a permanent seat at the UN Security Council. It is obvious that with less resource, diplomacy has become Senegal's "*main raw material*". This is a good lesson for all LDCs whose development is 80% financed by international cooperation. Only a foreign policy considering diplomacy as a "*main raw material*" can help achieve effective development diplomacy. West African States, for a real integration, must together develop actions to preserve their main interest: regional security, regional prosperity and regional visible presence in Africa and in the world.

Bibliographic references

Books

Bonkoungou, L. (2003), *La diplomatie multilatérale du Burkina Faso en Afrique*. ENAM (Burkina Faso), section Diplomatie ((unpublished).

Diop, A. (2006). Sénégal : Repères et grandeur d'une diplomatie. Dakar: Les Editions Sentinelles.

Kafando, P. (1996). Les relations de coopération entre la République togolaise et le Burkina Faso : Evolution et perspectives. Mémoire de fin de cycle, ENAM (Burkina Faso), section Diplomatie (unpublished).

Rana, K. (2002). Bilateral diplomacy. Delhi.

Traoré, S. D. (2004). *Contribution du Burkina Faso aux opérations de paix en Afrique de 1993 à 2003*. Mémoire de DEA, EPHE, Section Sciences Historiques et philologiques/Collège Interarmées de Défense, Paris (unpublished).

Obembé, J-F. (1999). *La Conquête de la Paix. Stratégie du passage de la guerre à la paix.* Paris: Editions MOREUX.

Papers

Décret no 2002-513/PRES/PM/MAECR du 19 novembre 2002 portant organisation du Ministère des affaires étrangères et de la coopération régionale.

Ministère des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale (Burkina Faso), X^{ème} Conférence des Ambassadeurs et Consuls Généraux du Burkina Faso : « Mise en œuvre du programme quinquennal, Le progrès continu pour une société d'espérance : contribution de la diplomatie burkinabè », Ouagadougou, les 18, 19 et 20 décembre 2006, document de travail. Mémorandum de préparation de la deuxième session de la Commission Mixte Ivoiro-Burkinabè, juillet 1997.

92

Procès-Verbal d'une séance de travail entre le Burkina Faso et la Côte d'Ivoire, Abidjan, 4 juillet 1994.

Procès -Verbal de la deuxième session de la Grande Commission Mixte de Coopération Ivoiro-Burkinabè, Ouagadougou, 26 juillet 1999.

Service de Coopération (Ambassade de la République de Chine au Burkina Faso), *Résumé de la coopération bilatérale*, septembre 2006.

Troisième session de la Grande Commission Mixte Ivoiro-burkinabè (2005). *Communiqué final*, Fait à Abidjan le 16 juillet 2004.

Internet references

AFP (2002).*Crise ivoirienne: querelle de chefs d'Etat au sein de la CEDEAO*. [Online]. 05/12/2002. Available from: <u>http://www.africatime.com/Togo/nouvelle.asp?no_nouvelle=45003</u> [Accessed 30 March 2007]

Assanvo, W. (2007). *ICT for African states diplomacy: challenges, state and opportunities* [online]. Paper presented at the International Conference on the Diplomacy of Small States, February 8-9, 2007, Malta . Available from: <u>http://www.diplomacy.edu/poolbin.asp?IDPool=351</u> [Accessed 12 March 2007].

BBC News (2002). *West African bank raid suspect arrested*. Tuesday. [Online]. 17 September, 2002. Available from: <u>http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/business/2263367.stm</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Burkina Faso. (2002). Déclaration de S.E.M Youssouf OUEDRAOGO, Ministre d'Etat, Ministre des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale à la Cinquante-septième session de l'Assemblée Générale des Nations Unies. [Online]. New York, le 19 septembre 2002. Available from: <u>http://www.un.org/webcast/ga/57/statements/020919burkinaF.htm</u> [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (1996). *Discours à l'occasion du 1^{er} sommet de l'Union économique et monétaire ouest-africaine (UEMOA*. [Online]. Ouagadougou, 10 mai 1996. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=1465&sid=10 [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (1998a). *Les voies de l'espérance*. [Online]. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/voiesesperance.php?sid=31 [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (1998b), *Programme pour un développement solidaire*. [Online]. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pdf/ppuds.pdf [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2003a). *Réponse du Président du Faso aux vœux du Corps diplomatique*. [Online]. Ouagadougou, 7 janvier 2003. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=706&sid=10 [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2003b). Déclaration de Son Excellence Monsieur Blaise Compaoré, Président du Burkina Faso, devant la cinquante-huitième session ordinaire de l'Assemblée Générale des Nations unies. [Online]. New York, 29 septembre 2003. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=718&sid=10 [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2004a). *Réponse aux vœux du corps diplomatique*. [Online].Ouagadougou, 09 janvier 2004. Available from: <u>http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=730&sid=10</u> [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2004b). Déclaration devant la 59^{ème} Assemblée Générale des Nations unies. [Online]. New York, 21 septembre 2004. Available from: <u>http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=750&sid=10</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007] Compaoré, B. (2005). Le Progrès continu pour une société d'espérance. [Online]. Available

from: http://www.presidence.bf/documents/bf_progres.pdf [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2006a). *Toast à l'occasion du Banquet d'Etat offert par le Président de la République de Chine (Taiwan)*. [Online]. Kaoshiung, 22 novembre 2006. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=1548&sid=10 [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2006b). *Discours d'ouverture de la Xème Conférence des Ambassadeurs et Consuls généraux du Burkina*. [Online].Ouagadougou, 18 décembre 2006. Available from: http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=1577&sid=10 [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Compaoré, B. (2007). *Réponse aux voeux du corps diplomatique*. [Online]. Ouagadougou, 09 janvier 2007. Available from: <u>http://www.presidence.bf/pageArticle.php?id=1589&sid=10</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Cross-Mike, S. (2007). *Caribbean Diplomacy: Research on Diplomacy of Small States*. Paper presented at the International Conference on the Diplomacy of Small States, February 8-9, 2007, Malta . Available from: <u>http://www.diplomacy.edu/poolbin.asp?IDPool=352</u> [Accessed 12 March 2007].

ISS Resource Centre (2007). *Dialogue direct inter-ivoiriens*. *L'Accord politique de Ouagadougou*. [Online]. Lundi 5 mars 2007. Available from: http://www.iss.co.za/dynamic/administration/file_manager/file_links/COTEDIVAGMTMAR07F <u>R.PDF?link_id=29&slink_id=4178&link_type=12&slink_type=13&tmpl_id=3</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007]

ECOWAS. [Online]. Available from: http://www.ecowas.int [Accessed 27 March 2007]

EPA Watch (2007). EPAs at the Bamako Joint Parliamentary Assembly. [Online]. 16-21 April 2005. April 25, 2005. Available from: http://www.epawatch.net/general/text.php?itemID=281&menuID=26. Accessed 28 March 2007] EU2007.de (2007). Consensus on Economic Partnership Agreements between EU and ACP Countries. [Online]. Press release, March 14, 2007. Available from: http://www.eu2007.de/en/News/Press_Releases/March/0314BMZEU-AKP.html [Accessed 28 March 2007]

FESPACO. [Online]. Available from: www.fespaco.bf [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Henrikson, A. K. (2007), *Diplomacy and small States in today's world*. Paper presented at the International Conference on the Diplomacy of Small States, February 8-9, 2007, Malta . [Online]. Available from:

http://textus.diplomacy.edu/thina/TxFsetW.asp?tURL=http://textus.diplomacy.edu/thina/txgetxdo c.asp?IDconv=3224 [Accessed 12 March 2007]

Hérault J.-C. (2006). *Le 20^e Tour des Hommes Intègres*. Speech to the 20th anniversary of Faso's Cyclist Tour. Available from: <u>http://www.letour.fr/2006/TFA/LIVE/fr/100/edito.html</u> [Accessed 21 March 2007]

Ministère des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale, Burkina Faso. *La politique étrangère du Burkina Faso. Cadre normatif d'analyse et de conception de la politique étrangère du Burkina Faso.* [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.mae.gov.bf/SiteMae/politique-</u>etrangere/cadre-normatif.html [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Ministère du Commerce de la promotion de l'entreprise et de l'artisanat du Burkina Faso. (2006). *Balance commerciale et commerce extérieur, Période 1997-2002*, p. 64 et 2. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.commerce.gov.bf/SiteCommerce/documents/balance-commerciale97-02.pdf</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Palm M. J-P. (2006). 20 ans déjà ! Speech to the 20th anniversary of Faso's Cyclist Tour. [Online]. Available from: <u>http://www.letour.fr/2006/TFA/LIVE/fr/100/edito.html</u> [Accessed 21 March 2007] Le Faso.net (2006). *Protocole d'accord du dialogue politique : le texte en intégralité*. [Online]. Lundi 21 août 2006. Available from: http://www.lefaso.net/article.php3?id_article=15791 [Accessed 28 March 2007

RECAMP (2004). WEST AFRICA: Major Military Exercise To Boost ECOWAS forces. [Online]. 28.05.2004. Available from: http://www.recamp4.org/fr/web.php#quatre [Accessed 28 March 2007]

RECAMP (2005). *Reinforcement of African Peacekeeping Capabilities*. [Online]. Cycle 5. Available from:

http://www.defense.gouv.fr/defense/layout/set/popup/content/download/43946/438827/file/plaqu ette_recamp_5_en_anglais_recamp_gb.pdf [Accessed 28 March 2007]

Sawadogo, P. (2006). *Burkina Faso, Politique de maintien de la paix*. [Online]. Fiche d'information du ROP. Available from: <u>http://www.operationspaix.net/BurkinaFaso</u> [Accessed 28 March 2007]

SIAO. [Online]. Available from: <u>www.siao.bf</u> [Accessed 8 March 2007]

Togo-confidentiel (2002). Crise ivoirienne : Le Ministre Sénégalais des Affaires Etrangères, Cheikh Tidiane Gadio, juge « inacceptable » d'écarter le Sénégal de la médiation ouestafricaine. [Online]. Available from:

http://www.togo-confidentiel.com/texte/Politique/Grogne_du_S%E9n%E9gal.htm [Accessed 30 March 2007]

Troaré, A. (2006). Diplomatie : Aller au-delà des ambassadeurs pour le rayonnement du Burkina

Faso.[Online].Lundi18décembre2006,Availablefrom:http://www.lefaso.net/article.php3?id_article=17988[Accessed 21 March 2007]

Union Economique et Monétaire Ouest Africaine (UEMOA). [Online]. Available from: http://www.uemoa.int [Accessed 27 March 2007] UN Agency IRIN (2006). *Burkina Faso cotton farmers drowned by US subsidies*. [Online]. 22 December. Available from: <u>http://www.afrol.com/articles/23496</u> Accessed 28 March 2007] UN media IRIN (2006). *West Africa slams US, EU on cotton subsidies*. [Online]. 29 November. Available from: <u>http://www.afrol.com</u> Accessed 28 March 2007]

UN News Centre (2007). *Côte d'Ivoire: Peace process needs international support, facilitator says.* [Online]. Available from:

http://www.un.org/apps/news/story.asp?NewsID=22604&Cr=cote&Cr1=ivoire [Accessed 28 March 2007]

US Embassy, Ouagdougou (2007). African Contingency Operations Training and Assistance (ACOTA). Closing Ceremony for First Training Session. [Online]. Remarks by Ambassador Jackson, Bama, April 27, 2007. Available from: http://ouagadougou.usembassy.gov/acotaspeech.html [Accessed 29 March 2007]

US Embassy, Ouagdougou (2007). *Ambassador Attends the Closing Ceremonies of ACOTA Training in Bama*. [Online]. Embassy News. Available from: <u>http://ouagadougou.usembassy.gov/acota.html</u> [Accessed 29 March 2007]

US Embassy, Ouagdougou (2007). *Workshop on biotechnology and BT cotton will kick off in Burkina Faso*. [Online]. November 8, 2006. Press release. Available from: http://ouagadougou.usembassy.gov/nov806press.htm [Accessed 28 March 2007]

WorldBank.Countrystudy[Online].Availablefrom:http://web.worldbank.org/WBSITE/EXTERNAL/EXTABOUTUS/IDA/0,,contentMDK:21240585~pagePK:51236175~piPK:437394~theSitePK:73154,00.html [Accessed 28 February 2007].

Conferences

Banque Mondiale/Représentation au Burkina Faso. (2007). *Stratégie d'Appui de la Banque Mondiale au Burkina Faso*. Institut Diplomatique et des Relations Internationales de Ouagadougou (IDRI), 14 mars 2007, conférence (power point document), 12 p.

Chen, T. (2005). *Taiwan's experience in development and its cooperation with Africa*. Speech to Institut Diplomatique et des Relations Internationales de Ouagadougou (IDRI), Burkina Faso, July 11, 2005.

Kam, Sibiri Eric). (2000). *Les espaces et organes d'intégration CEDEAO-UEMOA*. Conférence, Ouagadougou.

Ouédraogo, Y. (2005). *L'Union Africaine et le règlement des conflits. Préparer la paix !* Conférence présentée du Ministre d'Etat, Ministre des Affaires Etrangères et de la Coopération Régionale du Burkina Faso à Vienne, 28 avril 2005.

Sawadogo, P. (2005). Les acteurs africains de la gestion des crises ouest africaines. Essai d'analyse du cas togolais. Communication pour la première édition des Rencontres Internationales de Ouagadougou (RIO), IDRI, inédit.

Sawadogo, P. (2006). *Institutions, mécanismes et stratégies d'alerte précoce et de prévention des conflits au Burkina Faso*. Communication au 2^{ème} Forum des Leaders pour la Paix au Burkina Faso, Ouagadougou, 30 novembre 2006.